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—— 9 | To the Co-Owners of XETA Technologies:

Throughout the decade of the 1990s,
XETA Technologies focused all of its
talents, assets and energies on
providing telecommunications
solutions ta the highly specialized
lodging industry. During this entire
period of time, the Company
experienced remarkable and
consistent year-over-year growth
in corporate reputation,
customer base, revenues,
earnings and shareholders’
equity. As a result, we
became the indisputable
dominant player in this
relatively small niche
market.

Coincident with the
beginning of the new
millennium, we
announced a three-
year vision, the most

aggressive and far-
™ reaching in the
history of the
Company. At that time we
announced detailed strategies to greatly expand
our horizons and carry our formula for success into a much
larger, a much more technically sophisticated, and a much faster
growing marketplace. Our stated objective was to become the
premier provider of converged voice/data communications
solutions with our target market expanded to encompass the
entire enterprise marketplace.

At the beginning of fiscal 2000, we encouraged our shareholders
to "THINK BIG" as we set out to establish our basic building
blocks toward the fulfiliment of this new vision. The acquisitions
we made that year allowed us to quickly enter the traditional
voice, data and consulting marketplaces. These necessary and
successful beachhead acquisitions set the stage for the second
phase of our plan.

Given the dramatic increase in scale along with the internal
organizational diversity created during the "THINK BIG" year, we
anticipated a Herculean effort of TRANSFORMATION in fiscal
2001. In order to leverage our competitive strengths, mature the
desired competencies, extrapolate the XETA tradition of
excellence, become something special to our newly targeted
customers, and thereby truly emerge as the premier provider of
converged voice/data communications solutions, we knew we
had to make aggressive changes within the Company.

Some examples of this planned effort were:
-> Reorganizing installation and services by:

¢ Integrating, focusing, and in some cases expanding, our
professional services, complex system design and
programming expertise to the leading edge of technology;

¢ Cross pollinating our segmented voice, data, applications
and consulting expertise;

¢ | everaging the installation and servicing talents,
techniques, nationwide presence, and 24x7 call center
capabilities available in our lodging division to
accommodate our commercial customers;

¢ Expanding and empowering the order processing and
project management segments of the commercial
segment;

- Transforming the commercial sales effort by:

¢ Refocusing our sales strategy to incorporate the
"customer relationship" approach that has so successfully
served XETA in the past;

¢ Upgrading and cross-training our commercial sales force,
and redirecting their priorities away from PBX aftermarket
selling toward sales of complex converged
communications systems and strategic applications;

—> Achieving the operational efficiencies acceptable to the XETA
standard by establishing the comprehensive internal work
flow processes required for intricately coordinated quotes,
sales, order entry, project management, material logistics,
installation, service and accounting; and

We can now conpidently say that we have achieved the necessary scale and
required level of expertise to julpill our new vision. We are now truly beginning
to junction as the premier supplier of converged voice/data telecommunications.




- Transitioning the Company onto a new and sophisticated
digital operating model to accommodate the expected future
growth,

Suddenly, early in fiscal 2001, the economy took a surprising and
dramatic negative turn. The resulting difficult and unpredictable
fundamentals continued to worsen throughout the year and were
exacerbated by the tragic events of September 11. As a result,
new, unexpected and serious challenges presented themselves to
all businesses throughout the year. Basic issues, such

as remaining profitable with an adequate cash flow,
became much more difficult than any had anticipated.

At XETA, we rapidly and vigorously adapted to this new
environment. As a result, we were able to maintain an
acceptable level of earnings and cash flow and, all the
while, maintained our focus on our all-important long-range
TRANSFORMATION objectives.

Disappointingly, our fiscal 2001 economic results resulted in our
first decline in year-over-year earnings since fiscal 1993.
However, | want to commend our employees, as we were able to
deliver positive earnings and cash flow every quarter through this
most difficult year. We completed the year with $3.4 million in
after-tax earnings (our third best year) on $86.1 million in
revenue (our second best year) and were thus able to increase
shareholders’ equity by a very acceptable 21%.

| am also proud that even in the face of the severe economic
pressures, we accomplished the essential fiscal 2001
TRANSFORMATION objectives. We can now confidently say that
we have achieved the necessary scale and required level of
expertise to fulfill our new vision. We are now truly beginning to
function as the premier supplier of converged voice/data
telecommunications solutions. Evidence of this can be found:

- At the expertise level by:

* A 45% year-over-year increase in strategic applications
sales;

¢ A year-over-year sales profile shift from 50% systems,
50% aftermarket to 65% systems, 35% aftermarket;

* The successful design, sale and installation of over 100
VolP systems, 60 call centers (CRM), 18 Multi-Service
Networking Infrastructures (MSNI), 9 Wireless
Communications Networks and 3 Unified Messaging
systems;

* The completion of 8 network audits;

* The achievement of Microsoft’s elite Gold Certification;

* Acknowledgement from Avaya for selling more IP-related
products than any other Avaya business partner; and

- At the performance level by our customers granting XETA an
almost unheard of 100% customer satisfaction rating,
according to AVAYA's independent customer survey.

...our customers granting XETA an almost unheard
o 1007% customer satisfaction rating, according to

AVAJA’s independent customer survey.

We enter fiscal 2002 very excited and fully confident that we
remain on schedule to complete our three-year transition plan.
As we enter this final phase, we've achieved the growth and
transformation that were necessary to enter the broader
commercial marketplace of converged voice/data
communications. We are now able to focus our full energies on
the growth of our market share and aggressive growth of our
earnings, just as we did throughout the 1990s.

Even though we expect to continue to swim upstream against a
difficult economic environment, we believe, more strongly than
ever, that we are in the right market, with the right expertise, with
the right products at the right time. This is the year we
envisioned three years ago. The voice, data and consulting
building blocks are in place. We've leveraged our competitive
advantages to accommodate our commercial customers. Our
competencies and internal processes have achieved a new level
of sophistication.

Today, our priorities are simply to execute... IT’S SHOWTIME!

Sincerely,

St £ R
Jack R. Ingram
Chairman, CEQ and President
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Microsoft: June 2001 — Qualified for Microsoft Gold Certified
CERTIFIE

i~ Partner Program for Enterprise Systems

July 2001 — Ranked #28 on Fortune Small Business
magazine’s 100 Fastest-Growing Companies list.

AVAYA November 2001 — Inducted into Avaya’s newly

BUSINESSPARTNER established IP Hall of Fame

TECHNOLOGIES

Technology integrators. Service innovators.™
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Five-Year Financial Review

{All numbers in thousands except per share amounts and ratios. All data adjusted for 2:1 splits on August 13, 1999 and July 17, 2000.)

Years ended October 31, 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Revenues and income
Commercial equipment sales 41964 54199 0 0 0
Installation and Service sales 33,105 31,220 18,766 13,220 9,385
Lodging systems sales 10,064 16,032 17,857 11,232 9,238
Total Revenues 86,054 102,419 37,263 25447 18,760
Aiter Tax Net Income 3,481 6,461 4,283 3,053 2,140
EPS-Diluted $0.36 $0.66 $0.46  30.33 $0.23
Weighted Average Common Shares Qutstanding 9,061 8,350 8,021 8,120 8,024
Weignted Average Common Sharg Equivalents 9,698 9,762 9,254 9,370 9,460
Financial Position
Net Warking Capital 11,214 15,145 8,021 5122 6,944
Ratio of Current Assets to Current Liabilities 1.60 1.54 1.98 1.88 2.60
Total Assets 67285 74149 25316 18292 14,820
Long Term Debt 14,853 17983 0 0 0
Shareholders' Equity 31,197 25565 14551 11,185 9,337
Book Value/Share $322 %262  $157  $1.20  $0.99
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SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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OR
[ ] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TQ SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission file number 0-16231

XETA Technologies, Inc.
{Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Oklahoma 73-1130045
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) {1.R.S. Empiloyer Identification No.)
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average bid and asked prices of such shares) was approximately $39,252,374,

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant's Common Stock as of December 31, 20071 was 9,237,952 {excluding 1,018,788
treasury shares).

Exhibit Index appears at Page 25.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the Annual Meeting of Sharehalders to e held
March 28, 2002 are incorporated into Part IIl, items 17 through 13 hereof




ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Development and Description of Business

XETA Technologies, Inc. {the "Company”), an Oklahoma carporation formed in 19871, is in the midst of a planned three-year effort to fransform
itself from a niche player in the hospitality market to a nation-wide leader of integrated communications solutions. In fiscal 2001, the Company
continued to execute on this vision while at the same time battled rapidly deteriorating market conditions that forced adjusiments to some of the
short-term tactics employed to reach that vision,

In late 1999, the Company Initiated its expansion strategy through a balanced approach of organic growth and strategic acquisitions. The
immediate goals of this strategy were to: 1) establish a nation-wide presence delivering traditional voice solutions to commercial customers; 2) add
more complex communications applications 1o the product mix such as call centers, unified messaging, and voice-over-Internet Pratocol ("VolP™);
and 3) begin introducing professional and consulting services, Between November 1939 and November 2000, the Company mads 4
acquisitions and established 6 new sales offices. The acquisitions included one large, nation-wide dealer of Avaya, Inc. ("Avaya”) products, a
smaller regional Avaya dealer, a data networking company Iocated in the Midwest, and a professional services firm located in the northwestern U.S,

With the strategic pieces in place, the Company approached fiscal 2007 as a year of transformation.. Specifically, management focused its
attention on three areas; 1} transforming the Company's product lines from slower growing voice oriented products to faster growing segments
such as data, Microsoft Exchange, and IP capabilities, including LANAWAN network consuliing and implementation; 2) transforming the sales and
service teams 1o prospect and serve these faster-growing product segments; and 3) transforming the Company’s information technology systems
through the implementation of a new enterprise resource planning ("ERP”) system.

However, shortly after the beginning of the fiscal year, the Company encountered the rapidly declining market conditions that have plagued the
technology sector of the U.S. economy throughout the year. While not altering its overall expansion strategy or its fransformation activities for fiscal
2001, in April 2001 the Company positioned itself for the changing market conditions by implementing a workforce reduction of approximately
20% and reducing officers’ salaries between 10% and 25%. Also, the fees paid to outside directors were reduced 20%. As a resut of these
actions, the Company remained profitable and generated positive cash flows despite market driven quarter-over-quarter revenue declings in avery
quarter of the year. Simultaneously, the Company largely achieved its transformation inifiatives with the most significant remaining item being the
final implementation of the new ERP platform,

On QOctober 31, 2001, the Company completed a restructuring of its credit facility with fis bank group. The restructuring was in response to the
overall market conditions, which have lowered the profitability of the Company. The effects of the restructuring, which is more fully described under
“Liguidity and Capital Resources” in the "Management Discussion and Analysis” below, are to expand the Company's available credit under its
warking capital revolver, reduce the monthly principal payments by approximately 50%, and lower the threshold for some of the financial
covenants contained in the credit facility.

Commercial Products

The Company sells Avaya telecommunications and converged products to commercial customers. The Company sells a wide range of
communications servers offered by Avaya, including DEFINITY® Solutions, MERLIN MAGIX™ Systems and the PARTNER® Communications
Systems products, which are designed to mest the needs of large, medium and small users, respectively. The Company also sells Avaya voice
mail, unified messaging and customer relationship management ("CRM”) systems.  Each of the products listed above have various models
avallable depending on the feature set and size of the customer’s application. In addition to sslling Avaya systems, the Company enjoys a strong
business selling aftermarket components such as additional phone sets, headsets, circuit packs, etc.

In addition to traditional voice products, the Company also sells converged network solutions combining voice and data traffic over the same
network through product offerings from Avaya and Cisco. By using a single network for all traffic, customers can achigve significant cost savings
oy cutting duplication, simplifying administration and getting more value from their existing data network. The Avaya VoIP solutions are marketed
under the name Enterprise Class IP Solutions (ECLIPS) and Office IP and are full VoIP salutions designed to replace existing circuit-based PBX’s.
The Company can also provide a migration path from existing PBX’s 1o “IP-enabled” switches to preserve a customer's investment and comfort in
its existing and proven technology while still gaining most of the cost and feature advantages of VolP. During fiscal 2001, one of the Company's
major fransformation initiztives was to train the Company’s sales and service staffs o prospect, design and install these new IP-based producs.
By the end of fiscal 2001, fully 50% of all new, large systems being sold were 1P-enabled or fully IP based systems.

Hospitality Products
Communications Systems, The Company distributes Avaya's DEFINITY® Guestworks ™ Systems and Hitachi's 5000° Series Digital
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Communications Systems to the hospitality industry under nationwide, non-exclusive dealer agreements with both vendors. Both of these systems
are equipped with lodging specific software, which integrates with nearly all aspects of the hotel's operations. The Company also offers a variety of
related products such as voice mail systems, analog telephones, uninterruptible power supplies, announcement systems, and others, most of which
also have lodging specific software features. Most of these products are sold in conjunction with the sale of new communications systems and,
with the exception of voice mail systems, are purchased from regional and national suppliers. Sales of communications systems to the lodging
industry represented 12%, 13%, and 35% of total revenues in fiscal 2001, 2000, and 1599, respectively.

Call Accounting Products. The Company markets a line of proprietary call accounting systems under the Virtual XL® ("VXL") series name.
Introduced in 1998, the VXL is a PC-based system designed 10 operate on a hotel's locai or wide area network, and if that network is connscted
to the Internet, the VXL can also be accessed via an Internet connection. The VXL systems are the Company's latest technology in a series of call
accounting products the Company has successfully marketed since its inception. Many of the Company's earlier products remain in the field and
are supported by the Company’s service and technical staff

Installation and Services

Since the Company’s inception, instaltation and service of the Company’s products has been the key differentiator between the Company and its
competitors. The Company has had nationwide, 24 hour-per-day service capabilities for over 15 years and utilizes extensive remote servicing
capabilities to help quickly diagnose technical problems. As the Company has expanded during the past two years in accordance with its overal
growth vision, the Installation and service capabiliies that have long been established in the lodging sector have been overlayed to the Company's
new commercial operations. As such, the Company can provide consistent installation and service standards to large, complex, multi-location
customer applications.

For its distributed products, the Company typically passes on the manufacturer's limited warranty, which is generally one year in length. Labor
Costs associated with fulfiling the warranty requirements are generally borne by the Company. For proprietary call accounting products sold to the
lodging industry, the Company provides its customers with & limited one-year warranty covering paris and labor. Subsequent to the expiration of
the warranty, the Company offers a wide range of after-market service contracts to both its lodging and commercial customers under one year and
multi-year service contracts, The Company earns a significant portion of recurring service revenues from lodging customers who maintain service
contracts on their systems, To date, the Company has had limited success in selling these service contracts o its commercial customer base,
primarily because many of the Company's customers have existing refationships with Avaya, While the Company intends to continue to offer iis
own post-warranty maintenance contracts to commercial customers, there can be no assurance given as to the success of this service offering.
See a further discussion of the Company's partnering relationship with Avaya under “Marketing” below.

Networking Products and Professional Services

As a result of acquisitions, training and strategic hiring of personnel, the Company has developed expertise in a wide range of networking and
consulting applications.  These services include LAN/WAN assessments, enterprise natwork design and implementation, Microsoft exchange
customizations, Viriual Private Networks ("VPN"), Unified Messaging {(UM), network security audits, and wirsless networking solutions. In addition to
Avaya products, the Company also provides Cisco, Novell, and Microsoft products in implementing these solutions.

Software and Product Development

The Company has traditionally developed proprietary telecommunications products specifically for the lodging industry. However, as a result of
the Company's expansion into the general commercial market, the Oracle ERP system implementation project, and otfier various changes in
technology which have decreased the importance of call accounting systems in the lodging industry, the Company has redirected its development
resources toward Internal IT needs. Management does not expect a significant change in this strategy in the near future.

Marketing
The Compary's target markets in the commercial sector are mid-sized to large, multi-location customers with complex applications, which

enables the Company to leverage its nation-wide presence and its ability to deliver consistent implementations at mulfiple customer locations. The
Company markets its products and services to the commercial market through its direct sales force and through relationships with Avaya's direct
sales force under Avaya's Business Partner program. This program is part of Avaya's announced corporate strategy of moving significant portions
of its equipment sales revenues into its dealer channels. As such, the Company markets its implementation abilities to Avaya's direct sales force as
well as directly to end-users. When partnering with Avaya to provide design, equipment and installation of communications solutions to customers,
the Company usually works directly with the customer, takes itle to the inventory prior to its shipment 1o the customer and is responsible for the
entire implementation project.




In marketing its products and services to the hospitality industry, the Company relies heavily on its experience and reputation in the industry 1o
build fong-term refationships with the wide range of personnel (corporate hotel chain personnel, property management officials, industry
consultants, hotel owners, and on-site financial or operating officers) that can be the key decision makers for the purchase of hotel
telecommunications equipment.  The Company has relationships with nearly all hotel chains and major property management companies. These
relationshins are one of the keys to the Company's past and future success. Typically, the Company focuses its marketing expenditures on efforts
to continue 10 strengthen these relationships rather than broad promotional efforts that are employed in the commercial market, However, the
Company does offer a variety of sales programs 0 the lodging industry, the most significant of which is the XETAPLAN program, Under the
XETAPLAN program, customers are provided one of the Company's call accounting products for & period of three 1o five years in exchange for a
monthly fee paid to the Company. Sarvice on the products is also included in the contract. For communications systems it sells to the lodging
industry, the Company offers a package of value-added services including a call accounting system and a service package with a specified
number of free labor hours and weekly appointments with certified technicians to correct minor malfunctions or 1o perform routing maintenance.
The Company does not anticipate expanding its hospitality-market sales force in fiscal 2001. ‘

Major Customers
During fiscal 2001, the Company did not have any single customer that comprised more than 10% of its revenues.

Competition
Commercial. The Company faces intense competition in the commercial market from other Avaya dealers as well ag other manufacturers and

their respective distribution channels. However, while acquisition cost will aways be a competitive factor, increasingly, the ability to design
communications systems to maximize worker productivity and minimize the administration costs for the customer's IT department are of increasing
importance and Is a key differentiator between the Company and its competition. As a result of acquisitions as well as strategic hiring and training
programs, the Company can provide the full range of products and services required to meet the needs of multi-location customers. This range of
products and services includas: 1) traditional product offerings (voice and data systems, messaging servers, aftermarket components), 2)
fraditional services (maintenance, installation, time and materials services), 3) network consuliing (architecture, design, integration, and project
management), and 4) emerging applications {voice over IP telephony, unified messaging, call centers, and virtual private nstworks). Management
believes that by having this full range of product and service offerings, the Company can provide a one-stop solution to customer's needs while
maintaining consistent quality of service. Also, the Company is able to prospect for customers on a variety of fronts, address the customer’s
needs, and then introduce them to other product and service capabilities.

Hospitality. The Company believes that its most effective weapon in competing in the hospitality market is its commitment to differentiate itself
by concentrating on the performance and reliability of ifs systems and by providing the highest tevel of service possible. Competition in this market
is fierce and competitors range from large, well-known, well-financed companies 1o small, regional or local distributors, many of whom do not
concentrate on the hospitality market but are simply located near the prospective customer, While the Company believes that its reputation and
nation-wide presence contribute significantly fo its success, there can be no assurance given that the Company will be able to continue 1o expand
its market share in the future,

Manufacturing
The Company assembles all of its proprietary products, which include the Virtual XL®, XPERT® and XPANDER® systems, from an inventory of

components, parts and sub-assemblies obtained from various suppliers. These components are purchased from a variety of regional and national
distributors at prices which fluctuate based on damand and volumes purchased. Some components, athough widely distributed, are manufactured
by a single, usually foreign, source and are therefore subject to shortages and price fluctuations if manufacturing is interrupted. The Company
maintains adequate inventories of components 1o mitigate shori-term shortages and belisves the ultimate risk of long-term shortages is minimal.
The Company’s proprietary products are based on PC technology, which is continually and rapidly changing. As a result, some of the components
originally designed for use in the Company’s systems have been phased out of production and replaced by more advanced technology. To date,
these substitutions have not forced the Company to substantially redssign its systems and there has been minimal effect on the overall system
cost. There can be no assurance given, however, that future obsolescence of key components would not result in unanticipated delays in
shipments of systems due 10 redesign and testing of assemblies.

The Company uses outside contractors to assemble its proprietary printed circuit boards. The components and blank circuit boards are
purchased and inventoried by the Company and supplied 10 the outside contractor for assembly and quality control testing. The Company
performs various quality control procedures, including powering up completed systems and allowing them to “burn-in” before being assembled into
a final unit for a specific customer location, and performing final testing prior to shipment.

T

_____




Employees
At Decemper 31, 2001, the Company employed 299 employees, including 1 part-time employee.

Copyrights, Patents And Trademarks
The Company has never applied for patent protection on its hardware or software technalogy with the exception of the technology for
XPANDER®, for which the Company has a patent pending. The Company claims copyrights on all of its proprietary circuit boards and software,

While the Company believes that the ownership of patents, copyrights and registered trademarks is less significant to its succass than its
proprietary technology, quality and type of service and technical expertise, the Company recognizes that its reputation for quality products and
services gives value to its product names. Therefore, the Company has registered as United States domestic trademarks the names "XETA,"
"XETAXCEL," "XACT," "XPERT," "XPERT+," "XL," "XPANDER," and "Virtual XL” for use in the marketing of its services and systems. Al of these
marks are registered on the principal register of the United States Patent and Trademark Office ("PTO"), with the exception of XPANDER®, which is
registered on the supplemental register,

Government Regulation

The Federal Communications Commission {the “FCC") and state governments regulate the telecommunications industry. None of the
Company’s business activities, however, are directly regulated by the FCC or the states. None of the Company’s products or services require
approval from any governmental agency,

The Company’s computer products are subject to radio frequency emanation and electrical safely standards impased by the FCC. The cost of
complying with such standards, as well as with any applicable environmental laws, 1S immaterial,

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company's principal executive office and Service Center are located in a 37,000 square foot, Company-owned, single story building
located in a suburban business park near Tulsa, Oklahoma. This facility also houses the Company's warehouse and assembly areas to support its
hospitality sales channel. The building is located on a 13-acre fract of land. The property is subject to a mortgage held by Bank One, Oklanoma,
NA, 10 secure the Company’s credit facility.

The Company's commercial channel shipping operaticns are primarily located in leased faciliies in St. Louis, Missouri, In addition to the
warehouse, this facility houses sales staff, technical aesign, professional services, and instaltation support personnel. The Company leases other
office space throughout the U.S, for sales, consutting, and technical staff. Additionally, the Company has informal office arrangements with its
regional technicians to aliow for some storage of spare parts.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Since 1994, the Company has been monitoring numerous patent infringement lawsuits filed by Phonometrics, Inc., a Florida company, against
certain telecommunications equipment manufacturers and hotels who use such equipment. While the Company has not been named as a
defendant in any of thess cases, several of its call accounting customers are named defendants. These customers have notified the Company that
they will seek indemnification under the terms of their contracts with the Company. Howeaver, because there are other equipment vendors
implicated along with the Company in the cases filed against its customers, the Company has never assumed the outright defense of its customers
In any of these actions.

All of the cases filed by Phonometrics against the Company’s customers were originally filed in, or transferred to, the United States District Court
for the Southern District of Florida. In October 1988 the Florida Court dismissed all of the cases filed against the hotels for failure to state a claim,
relying on the precedent established in Phonometrics’ unsuccessiul patent infringement lawsuit against Northern Telecom.  Phonometrics appealed
the Forida court’s order and the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit reversed the District Court's dismissal of the cases, but did
30 solely upon the basis of a procedural matter. The Appeals Court made no ruling with respect to the merits of Phonometrics' case and
remanded the cases back to the Florida court for further proceedings. These cases were raopened in April 2000, Thereafter Phonometrics filed
motions to disqualify the District Court judge hearing the cases. These motions were denied by the District Court and Phonometrics appealed the
denial. The cases were stayed by the District Court pending the outcome of this appeal. In November 2001 several defendant hotels filed
motions for summary judgment. The District Court issued an order Iitting the stay on the cases only for purposes of hearing motions for summary
judgment. The Company will continue to monitor proceedings in these actions,

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.
None.




ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.
The Company's Common Stock, $.007 par value, is currently fraded on the over-the-counter market and is reported in the National Association
of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation ("NASDAQ") System under the symbol "XETA."

The high and low bid prices for the Company's Common Stock, as reported by the National Association of Securities Dealers through iis
NASDAQ System, for each of the quarters during the Company's two most recent fiscal years are set forth below. These prices reflect inter-dealer
prices, without adjustment for refail mark-ups, mark-downs or commissions and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

2001 2000
Quarter Ending: High Low High Low
January 371 12.00 8.31 22.06 9,66
April 30 11.63 5.01 33.84 15.563
July 31 6.40 4.26 23.75 10.88
October 31 6.02 3.49 19.00 8.00

The Company has never paid cash dividends on jts Common Stock. Payment of cash dividends is dependent upan the Company's eamings,
capital requirements, overall financial condition and other factors deemed relevant by its Board of Directors. The Company is currently prohibited
from paying cash dividends Dy its credit facility.

As of December 31, 2007, the latest practicable date for which such information is available, the Company had 173 sharenolders of record. In
addition, based upon information received annually from brokers holding stock in the Company on behalf of beneficial owners, the Company has
approximately 8,113 beneficial shareholders.




{TEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
Selected financial data for the last five fiscal years is presented below. All amounts except share and per share amounts are in thousands.

For the Year Ending October 31 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Results of Operations
Commercial equipment sales $ 41,964 $ 54,199 $0 $0 $0
Installation and Service sales 33,105 31,220 18,766 13,220 9,355
Lodging systems sales 10,064 16,032 17,857 11,232 9,238
Other revenues 921 968 B840 995 167
Total Revenues 86,054 102,419 37,263 25,447 18,760
Cost of commercial equipment sales 29,812 37,403 - - -
Cost of installation and services 23,512 21,627 12,206 8,036 5,884
Cost of Lodging systems 6,449 10,077 10,412 7,141 5,674
Cost of other revenues and carporate COGS 2.759 2,482 655 775 400
62,532 71,589 23,273 16,452 11,858
Gross Profit 23,522 30,830 13,990 8,935 6,802
Operating sxpenses 16,173 18,452 7,622 4,757 4,139
Income from operations 7,349 12,378 6,368 4,238 2,663
Interest and other income (1,623 (1,761 665 o671 667
Income before taxes 5,726 10,617 7,033 4,909 3,330
Provisions for taxes 2.245 4,156 2.750 1.855 1,190
Net income $ 3481 $ 6.461 $ 4.283 $_ 3,054 $ 2140
Earnings per share - Basic $0.38 $0.77 $053 $0.38 $0.27
Earnings per share - Diluted $0.36 $0.66 $0.46 $0.33 $0.23
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding 9,061 8,350 8,021 8,120 8,024
Weighted Average Common Share Equivalents 9,698 9,762 9,254 9,372 9,460
As of October 31 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Balance Sheet Data:
Working Capital $11.214 $ 15,145 $ 8,021 $5,122 $6,944
Total Assets 67,285 74,149 25316 18,292 14,820
Long Term Debt 14,853 17,983 - - -
Shareholders' Equity 31,197 25,565 14,551 11,185 8,337



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to the provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements include, without limitation, statements concerning expectations regarding: the
Company’s financial position including sales, revenues, gross margins, operating margins and expenses; trends and conditions in
the U.S. economy and in the communications technology industry and hospitality markets; and the Company’s ability to implement
its current business ptan. These and other forward-looking statements (generally identified by such words as “expects,” “plans,”
believes,” “anticipates” and similar words or expressions) are not guarantees of performance but rather reflect management’s
current expectations, assumptions and beliefs based upon information currently available to management. investors are cautioned
that all forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which are difficult to predict and that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those projected. Many of these risks and uncertainties are described under the heading
“Outlook and Risk Factors” below. Consequently, all forward-looking statements should be read in conjunction with the risk factors
discussed herein and throughout this report.

For the fiscal year ending October 31, 20071, the Company reported net income of $3.5 million an revenues of $86 million. These results
reflect the deteriorating market conditions experienced by the Company throughout fiscal 2007, Although first quarter revenues were 22% higher
On a year-overyear basis, the Company reported sequential quarterly revenue declines for the remainder of the year. These declines were
primarily due to overall market conditions as customers deferred spending decisions fo conserve capital and evaluate economic developments.
The Company responded to these market conditions by intently focusing on ifs cost structure and by improving its operational efficiencies.

Despite the current recession in the U.S. economy as a whole and particularly in the technology sector, management remains fully confident in
its overall vision to dramatically expand the Company and capitalize on the converging world of voice and data technology. To this end, the
Company continued its transformation efforts during fiscal 2007 by continuing to integrate its acquired capabilities in LAN/WAN, Unified
Messaging, Microsoft Exchange and IP technologies, re-direct its salas and service employees from slower o faster growing segments of the
market (.. from fraditional vaice products to converged application products), and work on the implementation of its new ERP system.

Near-term economic conditions remain too murky to predict, however management is cautiously optimistic regarding fiscal 2002 as a whole
and therefore, in the fourth quarter, a careful expansion of its sales force was begun. Management belisves that the first step toward a future
expansion of its businass is to prove that it can maintain constant quarter-over-quarter revenues in the current business climate, From there,
management believes that, with its new cost structure, revenues can be expanded at a faster rate than operating expenses when the overall
market conditions Improve,

Results of Operations

Year ending October 31, 2007 compared to October 31, 2000. Net revenues for fiscal 20071 were $86.1 million compared to $102.4
miflion for fiscal 2000, a 16% decline. Net income for fiscal 2001 was $3.5 million compared to $6.5 miliion for the previous year, a 46%
decline. Discussed below are the major revenue, gross margin, and operating expense items that affected the Company's financial results during
fiscal 2001 a5 well as management’s current expectation for those items for the coming year

Commercial Equipment Sales. Sales of equipment to commercial customers in fiscal 2001 were $41.96 million representing a 23% decrease
from the previous year. This decrease is the result of overall market conditions that deteriorated throughout the year, Beginning late in the
Company’s first quarter, order rates for new equipment became erratic. By the end of the Company's second quarter, a clear decling in order raies
was apparent and visibility into the near-term was murky. That condition has continued to the present, as customers perceive the need to use their
avallable capital cautiously until a clear economic recovery is underway., Management believes that its customers have deferred buying decisions
temporarily rather than canceling capital spending.

A significant portion of the Company's commercial equipment sales are derived from its “Business Partner” relationship with Avaya
Communications, Inc. ("Avaya”). Avaya is pursuing a strategy of moving a greater portion of its revenues through its dealer sales channel. The
Company, with its nation-wide sales and Implementation capabilities, is well positioned to take advantage of this strategy. As such, the Company
carefully cultivates relationships with the Avaya sales team.  Under these arrangements, the Company takes title 1o the equipment and then sells it
directly to the end-user customer, The Company bears the collection and warranty risks. Management believes that revenues from these
"partnering” activities will continue to represent a significant portion of its business in the future.

Lodaing Systems Sales. Sales of communications systems to the lodging industry (including "other revenues”) were $10.98 miliion for fiscal
2007, representing a decline in revenues of $6.0 million or 35%. This decline reflects the recession being experiencad in the overall U.S.
economy and, more particularly, in the lodging sector. Also, the decline reflects the fact that many hotsls upgraded their communications systems




during the Year 2000 ("Y2K”) upgrade cycle and, therefore, do not perceive a need for new systems at this time. Finally, the events of September
111 had an immediate and negative impact on the lodging indusiry, but it is still unclear what the long-term impact will be. Management believes
that it is likely that sales of lodging systems will remain at depressed levels until the economy has sufficiently recovered to spur new construction
and major renovation programs.

Installation and Service Revenues. Revenues derived from installation and service activities increased $1.9 million or 6% to $33.1 million in
fiscal 2001, This increase consists of sales of professional services from the Company’s acquired networking and professional services
organizations, partially offset by decreased revenues from installation activities due 1o lower equipment and systems sales as discussed above.
Revenues eamed from maintenance contracts were relatively constant. The addition of data netwaorking and consulting capabilities is a key
component in the Company's overall vision for expansion. As voice and data technologies have converged and as more advanced applications of
those technologies are being develaped, the complexity of communications systems design and implementation has increased significantly. The
‘Company's acquisition of Pro Networks, Inc., a data networking company, and KMI, Inc., a professicnal consulting company, in November of 2000
were important pieces of the Company's overall strategy and represent the nucleus from which the Company is building its expertise in the design
and implementation of these new, complex, converged systems.  Furthermore, management believes that the quality of the Company's
implementation and service capabilities will ulimately be the key differentiator that drives customer satisfaction and retention. Management
believes that the outlook for this revenue stream in fiscal 2002 is dependent upon its ability to increase sales of new systems,

Gross Margins, Gross margins earned in 2007 were 27.3% compared 1o 30% in fiscal 2000, This deching in gross marging consisted of
declines in margins on each of the Company's major revenue streams. In general, these declines can be attributed o the overall decling In higher
margin large systems projects in both the commercial and lodging market sectors as economic conditions have resulted in lower capital spending
by custornars. The gross margins earmed on commercial equipment sales was 29% in fiscal 20071 compared to 31% for the prior year. The
target margins for this revenue stream are 28% to 30%. The gross marging earmed on lodging systems sales were 35.9% in fiscal 2001
compared to 37.1% in fiscal 2000. Management’s targst mergin for this revenue stream is 33% 1o 35%. The gross marging sarmed on
installation and service revenues for fiscal 2001 were 29% compared to 30.7% in the prior year. The target margin for instaliation and service
revenues is 28% 1o 30%. In the second guarter of fiscal 2001, the Company experienced a sudden and significant downium in its business,
which resulted in a dramatic decline in the margins eamed on installation and service revenues due o thelr sensitivity to fabor costs. In response,
management implemented a workforce reduction. A significant portion of this reduction was targeted toward the installation and service workforce
to restore the gross marging in this area 10 the expected targets. Management believes that gross margins eamed in fiscal 2002 should be within
the targeted ranges discussed above and thet overall marging, after deducting corporate level costs for purchasing, shipping and warehousing,
should be in the range of 28% to 30%.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses, excluding amortization expense, were 16,9% of total revenues in fiscal 2007 compared 10 16.5% In
the year earlier. This relatively consistent expense level was maintained through the workforce and other cost reductions in sales expenses and
through efficiencies gained through continued integration of general and administrative activities of the acquired companies. The expense levels for
fiscal 2007 were in line with management's target of 16% 1o 18% of total sales. Amortization expense reflects primarily the amortization of
goodwil acquired in the four acquisitions done by the Company in the past wo fiscal years.

The Company has adopted Financial Accounting Standard No. 142 as of November 1, 2001, Under this standard, the Company will no longer
amortize against earnings the goodwili on its balance sheet. Instead, management will, at least annually, compare the net book value of its
acquired businesses against the fair value of those businesses and determine whether the value on the Company's balance sheet has become
impaired, If such an impairment has occurred, a write-down of the impaired asset, most likely goodwill, is required. In accordance with the
implementation guidance in the standard, the Company has engaged an independent expert to make the initial evaluation of the fair valug of the
acquired businesses. In so doing, the Company and the expert agreed that the acquired hbusinesses should be viewed as ong business, the
commercial business. The expert found that the fair value of the commercial business exceeded its book value as of October 31, 2007 and,
thersfore, no impairment charge has been recorded,

Interest and Other Income. Interast expense consists of interest paid or accrued on the Company’s credit facility. Interest expense declined in
fiscal 2001 by $259,000 or 11%, primarily reflecting lower average interest rates experienced during the year. Other income and expense
consists primarlly of interest income earned from the Company's sales-type lease receivable portfofio. Interest income declined by $122,000 or
21% in fiscal 2001 reflecting the maturing of the lease portfolio.

Tax Expense. The Company has recorded a combined federat and state tax provision of 39% In all years presented. This rate reflects the
effective federal tax rate plus the estimated composite state income fax rate.

”




Operating Margins. Net income as a percent of ravenues for fiscal 2007 was 4% compared to 6.3% in the prior year. This decline primarily
reflects lower gross margins earned in fiscal 2007 as discussed above and also relatively constant amortization expense between the two years.
While management was able to adjust most of its cost structure of the Company to reflect the reduced revenues earned, the amortization charge
from goodwill is not dependent upon revenues.

Year ending October 31, 2000 compared to October 31, 1999. Net revenues for fiscal 2000 were $102.4 million, an increase of $65.1
million or 175% over the previous year. Of this increase, approximately $63.9 million represented revenues eamed from acquired companies
during the year,

Commercial Equipment Sales. Fiscal 2000 representsd the first year of the Company's planned expansion into the commercial market. This
expansion was largely initiated through two acquisitions of Avaya voice product dealers. Sales of products to commercial customers were $54.2
million in fiscal 2000 and represented revenues earmned from the acquired operations of U.S. Technologies Systems, Inc. ("USTI") and Advanced
Communications Technology, Inc. ("ACT") since the date of their acquisition (11 months and 8 months, respectively).

Lodaing Systems Sales. Sales of lodging systems declined $1.8 million or 10%. This decline consisted of a decrease in sales of call
accounting systems of $2.4 million or 51% and an increase in sales of communications systems (PBX's) to the lodging market of $582,000 or
4%, Sales of call accounting products in fiscal 2000 returned to more normal levels after the surge in orders experienced in 1999, as many
customers upgraded or replaced thelr systems in preparation for Y2K. In addition, the capital avallable to the lodging industry for new
construction, remodeling, and investments in technology shrunk considerably in 2000, resuliing in extended sales cycles and fierce competition.
The Company was able to offset some of the impact of these trands through its offering of the Avaya Guestworks™ PBX system. The Avaya
system enabled the Company to break into new customer accounts that were not previously receptive to the Company’s Hitachi PBX offering.

Installation and Service Bevenues. Installation and service revenues increased $12.5 million or 66% during fiscal 2000, Approximately $9.7
million of this increase was earned from the expansion of the Company’s service capabilities into the commercial market, During fiscal 2000, the
Company hired and trained acditional technicians and implemented new provisioning processes and pricing strategies to address the needs of the
commercial market. Revenues earmned from the Company’s traditional lodging installation and service activities grew approximately $2.7 miliion or
15%. This growth was fueled by increases in revenues earned from maintenance contracts and billable services on call accounting systems and
PBX's, partially offset by decreases in installation revenues.

Other Revenues. Other revenues consisted of revenues earned from the remaining long distance services contracts stil in force and from non-
recurring, fow margin, sale of after-market products in which the Company acts as a "broker” to facilitate the transaction for its customers. The
sale of aftermarket products included in this revenue caption involved transactions in which the Company procured large quantities of after-market
components, typically telephone sets, for end-user customers,

Gross Margins. Total gross margins earned in 2000 were 30% compared to 38% in 1999. This decling was expected as a resuit of a
dramatic and plannad change in product mix toward the commercial market for voice angd data products. As the Company executed its growth
sftrategy through acquiring companies operating in the commercial market, the percentage of its business earned from higher-margin, specialized
lodging products and services declined as a portion of total revenuss.

The gross margins eamed on commercial equioment sales in fiscal 2000 were 31%. The marging eamed on these sales were highly impacted
by the percentage of these sales generated through the Avaya business pariner arrangements in which the Company partners with Avaya fo se
and install equipment to Avaya’s farger customers, These customers, which are often large, Fortune 500 sized companies, have the buying power
to drive lower prices and thersfore lower margins for the Company.

The gross margins earned on lodging systems sales were 37% in fiscal 2000 compared to 42% In fiscal 1999, This decline represented a
change in product mix in 2000 toward sales of more PBX systems and fewer call accounting systems as a portion of total lodging systems sales.
As a proprietary product, the Company’s call accounting systems eam a higher gross margin than the distributed PBX product line.

The gross margins earnad on installation and service revenues in fiscal 2000 were 31% compared ¢ 35% in fiscal 199S. This decline was
somewhat expected as the installation of commercial PBX systems is more complex than in the lodging sector and, as such, the costs to design
and implement these systems is higher than the Company experienced previously. Furthermore, in the commercial sector, the Company has not
built up a base of recurring revenues from maintenance contracts, which tends to smooth out the marging earned on this revenue stream.

Operating Expenses.  Total operating expenses, including selling, general and administrative ("SGA"), and amortization were 18% of tofal
revenues in fiscal 2000 compared to 20.5% of total fiscal 1999 revenues. SGA costs represented 16.5% of revenues in 2000 compared 10
15% in 1999, These levels were satisfactory to management given the rapid growth of the Company and the complexity of its operations
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compared to the previous year. Amortization expense between the two years consisted of different components and was therefore not
comparable. The majority of amortization expense in fiscal 1989 related to the amortization of the purchase price of the PBX service contracts
purchased from Wilfiams Communications Solutions in fate 1988, while the majority of amortization expense recorded in fiscal 2000 was related
to the acquisitions of USTI and ACT.

Interest Expense.  Interest expense consisted of interest on the Company's credit facility that was used to fund the acauisitions of UST! and ACT,
interest on a working capital revolver, and various commitment fees paid on the unused portion of the cradit faciiity. Prior to the establishment of
this credit facllity, the Company did not have any outstanding debt.

Interest and Other Income. Interest and other income consisted primarlly of interest income earned on XETAPLAN sales-type leases. Under
these lease arrangements, the Company provides a call accounting system to its lodging customers and service on the system for a period of
three to five years in exchange for a monthly or quarterly fee. Under the accounting rutes followed by the Company, a portion of these payments
were imputed as interest income. In fiscal 1999, Interest income also included interest eamed on cash investments, The decline in interest
income reflected the decling in avallable cash balances for investments.

Income Taxes. The Company recorded a provision for faderal and state income taxes of $4.2 million or 39% of pre-tax income compared 1o
$2.75 million or 39% of pre-tax income in fiscal 1999, This rate reflected the effective federal tax rate plus the estimated composite state
income tax rate,

Operating Margins. Net income as a percent of sales was 6.3% in fiscal 2000 compared to 11.5% in fiscal 1999. This lower operating
margin reflected the Company’s transition from a niche company in the small hospitality sector to a voice and data integrator in a larger and faster
growing commercial voice and data integration market,

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At the beginning of fiscal 2000, the Company established a new credit facility to provide capital for its planned expansion into the commercial
market. This credit facility was tapped for $371.5 million in long-term debt between November 30, 1999 and November 1, 2000 to fund the
acquistion of four companies. Despite the difficult economic conditions experienced during the past year, the Company has bean able 1o reduce
this debt 43% to $18.1 million.

As a resuit of the rapidly and negatively changing market conditions experienced in fiscal 2007, the Company’s earnings lavels, which were the
primary basis of support for the credit facllity, began to deteriorate dramatically. In response 1o these conditions, the Company made substantial
reductions in its cost structure at the end of its second fiscal quarter and began negotiations with Its bank to restructure its credit facility to reflect
the Company’s current eamings levels and to more fully collateralize the facility to the Company’s assets rather than to cash flows. On October
31, 2001 the Company closed on a restructuring of the credit faclility which included the following significant changes: 1) the amount available
under the revolving fine of credit was expanded $1 million to a total of $9 million and it was secured with a borrowing base of receivables and
inventary; 2} the outstanding term debt was reduced by $5.55 million by transferring $3 milion o the revalver and the remaining $2.55 million to
a 15 year mortgage coliateralized by the Company’s headquarters building; 3) the remaining term loan of $15.59 million, after the reductions
mentioned above, was put on a new 5 year amortization schedule; and 4) the debt service coverage ratio required under the agreement was
temporarily reduced. As a result of the restructuring, the Company's monthly principal payments were reduced nearly in haif to $274,000.
Menagement is pleased with the restructuring and believes that the agreement reflects a strong vote of confidence by the Company's banking
partners as 1o the actions that have teen taken in response to the downturn in market conditions.

Although the Company has access 10 a variety of capital sources such as additional bank debt, private placements of subordinated debt, and
public or private sales of additional equity, the availability of those sources at acceptable prices is currently limited. Management is currently
focused on overriding the effects of the current downturn in the economy and returning the Company to higher levels of profitability and previous
growth rates. As such, itis carefully managing its balance sheet with a view toward reducing inventories and receivables. The Company has a
long-standing policy of paying its vendors promptly and has maintained that policy whils carefully managing its cash flows. Management believes
its most likely source of immediate, additional capital, if needed, will be its banking pariners. While the Company believes that its relationship with
its banks remains very pasitive, there can be no assurance given as o the availability of additional debt should the Company’s earnings deteriorate
further, :

For the year ending October 31, 2001, the Company generated $9.8 million in cash from operations. This amount consisted of $7.7 miliion
earned from earnings and non-cash charges and $15.7 from reductions in accounts receivables offset by reductions in accounts payable and
accrued liabiliies of $9.9 milion and reductions in other working capital items of $3.71 million. Other sources of cash included additional fong-
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term borrowings of $5.5 million and net borrowings on the Company's working capital revolver of $4.4 million. This cash was used 1o fund
acquisitions totaling $5.6 milion and implementation of the Company’s new ERP system of $2.9 million.

In June 20071, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Ohligations”. This statement addressss financial accounting
and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. In August
2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” This statemeant supercedes SFAS 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of" and amends Accounting Principals Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the
Results of Operation — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events
and Transactions.” The Statement retains the basic framework of SFAS No. 121, resolves certain implementation issuss of SFAS 121, extends
applicability to discontinued operations, and broadens the presentation of discontinued operations 1o include a component of an entity, The efiect
of implementing both of these new standards on the Company’s results of operations and financial position is not expected to be material.

Qutlook and Risk Factors

The statements in this section entitied “Outlook and Risk Factors,” as well as other statements throughout this report regarding trends or future
performance or events, are based on management's current expectations. These statements are forward-looking and actual resuits may differ
meterially. All such statements should be read in conjunction with the risk factors discussed herein and elsewhere in this report.

US. Economy, The Company's business is subject to the effects of general economic conditions in the United States and, in particutar, market
conditions for telecommunications and networking equipment and services. In recent quarters, the Company’s operating results have been
adversely affecied as a result of unfavorable econamic conditions and reduced capital spending in the United States. If the economic conditions in
the United States do not improve, or continue to deteriorate, the Company may continue to experience material adverse Impacts on its business,
operating results, and financial condition,

Credit Facility and Working Capital. Management believes that iis relationship with its banking partners is good and that the recently restructured
credit facility adsauately addresses hoth principal payment and financial covenant requirements for the present market conditions.  However, there
gan be no assurance given that the Company will have adequate working capital available should market conditions continue to deteriorate. Under
the restructured credit facility, the Company’s access to working capital barrowings is restricted by a borrowing base of accounts receivables and
inventory. As the Company's revenues have declined, avaifability under the facility has been reduced accordingly. Should the Company’s need for
working capital temporarlly exceed its borrowing fimits, the Company might be forced to delay payments to its bank or other vendors. Such delays
could materially and negatively impact the Company’s operating results, Conversely, should the Company’s revenues expand rapidly in the near
future, it is also possible that demand for additional working capital could be in excess of that allowed under the credit faciiity. However, in this
scenario, management is more confident that it could successiully demonstrate the positive need for additional capital,

Dealer Agreements. The Company selis communications systems under dealer agreements with Avaya, Inc. (formerly Lucent Technologies) and
Hitachi Telecom, (USA), Inc. The Company is a major dealer for both manufacturers and considers its relationship with both to be good.
Nevertheless, if the Company's strategic relationship with Avaya, and to a lesser dagree with Hitachi, were to be terminated prematuraly or
unexpectedly, the Company’s operating results wouid be adversely impacted. Furthermore, in both the separate agresments that the Company has
with Avaya for distribution of products to the commercial and lodging marksts and the agreement with Hitachi, the Company must mest certain
volume commitments o earn the pricing structure provided in the dealer agresments. In addition, the Company’s relationship with Avaya is
administered through a joint agreement batween the Company, Avaya, and one of Avaya’s “super distributors”, Voda One (formerly Inacom) through
which the Company receives specified pricing from Voda One based on certain volume requirements.  Should the Company fail to mest any of
these requiremnents, future profit margins could suffer,

Dependence upon Avaya. The Company is ane of the largest dealers of Avaya products in the U.S. While the Company’s agreement with Avaya
is non-exclusive and the Company can and does represent other manufacturer's products in the marketolace, the Company is heavily dependent
upon the quality and continued development of technologically advanced products to compete effectively. Avaya is a leading provider of
communications systems and software for enterprises, including businesses, government agencies and other organizations. The Company offers
Avaya’s voice, converged voice and data, customer relationship managemeant, messaging, multi-service networking and struciured cabling products
and services. Multi-service networking products are those products that support network infrastructures which carry voice, video and data traffic
over any of the protacols, or set of procedures, supported by the Internet on local area and wide area data netwarks. A structured cabling system
is a flexible cabling system designed to connect phones, warkstations, personal computers, local area networks and other communications devices
through a building or across one or more campuses. Avaya is a market-leader in messaging, structured cabling systems, enterprise voice
communications and call center systems, but Is relatively new 1o the converged voice and data products and multi-service networking products
markels.
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Most industry analysts expect the growth rate for traditional voice products to be very low, while higher growth rates are expected for those
products focused on networked communications tools such as converged voice and data applications. Avaya is not a leader in multi-service
networking products or in converged voice and data products. The Company’s long-term growth strategy is built upon being a nationwide
integrator of these converged voice and data applications as well as other high-end applications and as such is dependent upon Avaya’s SUCCess
in developing these products in a timely manner.

Also, Avaya, like many major manufacturers, provides various incentive programs to support the advertising and sale of s products. The
Company receives substantial rebates through these common incentive programs to offset both costs of goods sold and marketing expenses,
These amounts are material 1 the Company’s operating resulis. These rebates are based on a combination of the dollar volumes of purchases of
certain products, the number of units of certain products purchased, and the year-overyear growth in purchases of certain products. Historicaly,
fhe requirements of these incentive programs are changed annually, While the Company does not expect such programs 1o be altered to the
Company’s detriment, there can be no assurance given that a change in these programs won't negatively impact the Company's profit marging
and operating results,

Dependence Upon a Few Suppliers. The Company’s growth and ability to meet customer demands also depend in part on its capability to
obtain timely deliveries of parts from suppliers. The Company’s agreement with Avaya specifies the use of a single distributor from which it
purchases most Avaya products. While this supplier has performed effectively and has been relatively flexible to date, there is no assurance that
the present gensral economic canditions or ather specific conditions unigue to the supplier will not cause an interruption in the supply of products
in the future. In addition, Avaya has recently outsourced its manufacturing operations to a third party company. During the initial months of the
outsourcing agreement, there have been periodic shortages of equipment.  Although the Company works closely with its suppliers to avoid these
tynes of shortages, there can be no assurance that the Company will not encounter these problems in the future.

Hiring and Retaining Key Personnel. The Company’s ability to atfract, train, motivate and retain hignly skilled and qualified technical and sales
personnel is ritical to the Company’s success. Competition for such employees in the rapidly changing telecommunications industry is typically
intense, although the current economic conditions have temporarily eased some of this pressure. As the Company has transformed itself into an
integrated communications solutions provider, it has invested heavily in the hiring and training of personnel to sell and service the Company’s new
products and service offerings. If the Company is unable to retain its skiled employees or to hire additional qualified personnel as needed, it could
aaversely impact the Company's abllity to implement its business strategies sfficiently and effectively.

Competition. The market for the Company’s products and services is highty competitive and subject to rapidly changing technologies. As the
industry itself evolves and new technologies and products are introduced into the marketplace, new participants enter the market and existing
competitors seek {0 strengthen their positions and expand their product/senvice offerings. There has been a trend toward indusiry consolidation,
which can lead to the creation of stronger competitors who may be better able to compete as a sole-source vendor for customers, While the
Company believes that through its expansion and transformation of the last few years, it has positioned itself well to compete effectivety in the
marketplace, its fallure to maintain or enhance its competitive position could adversely affect its business and results of aperations.

Lodging Industry. As a result of the overall downturn in the economy in general and the recession in the lodging industry in particular as a resutt
of the September 11th attacks, there is deepened uncertainty to the near-term health of many of the Company’s customers, While the Company
has substantially divested itself from its previous dependence on this sector, it remains an important part of the Company's business and the
financial failure of one or more of the Company’s significant lodging customers could have a material, negative impact on the Company’s financial
results,

Technology Infrastructure and Information Systems.  Management's ability to navigate the current market will depend heavily upon its ability to
assemble the necessary Information to make informed decisions and implement those decisions quickly and effectively. The Company is currently
upgrading its technology infrastructure and lis information systems. This upgrade will result in a consolidation from four critical legacy systems to
one. The success of this conversion is critical to the Company ultimately attaining the planned productivity increases and operational efficiencies
needed to improve the Company’s operating results and provides the needed infrastructure for future growth.

Stock Market Volatility. Historically, the Company’s stock has not been widely followed by investment analysts and has been subject to price and
yolume trading volatility. This volatility is sometimes tied to overall market conditions and may or may not reflect the operating performance of the
Company.  Due to the current negative perception of techinology related stocks, the Company’s declining revenues, and the relatively small size of
the Company's market capitalization, the Company has seen the interest from the financial community and average trading voiume of its stock
decline further during fiscal 2001, As a result, there is increased risk that the Company’s stock could experience even greater volatility from
momentum trading Dy only a few stock market participants.,




Other Risk Factors. In addition to the specific factors discussed abave, the following general factors can also impact the Company's overall
nerformance and results of operations: the continued growth of the 1P networking market, uncertainties inherent with rapidly changing
technologies and customer demand, the cost and effects of legal claims and proceedings, and relationships with suppliers, vendors and customers.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
Market risks relating to the Company's operations result primarily from changes in interest rates. The Company did net use derivative financial
instruments for speculative or rading purposes during the 2001 fiscal year.

Inferest Rate Risk.  The following table provides information regarding the company's financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in
interest rates, The table presents the company’s debt obiigations and welghtad-average interest rates by expected maturity dates. The variable
average interest rates reflect the rates in effect at October 31, 2001, A hypothetical 10 percent change in such interest rates would not have a
material effect upon the company’s consolidated results of operafions or cash flows. At October 31, 20071, the company had not entered into any
interest rate swap agresments 1o manage interest rate risk. Subsequant to October 31, 2001, the company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement, which was in conjunction with the company's finance facility restructuring.

Expected Maturity Date Fair Value

2002 2003 10/31/01

Fixed rate $1,000 - $1,000
Average interest rate 7.12% -
Variable rate $8,638 $14,853
Average interest rate 5.4% 5.4%
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Report of Independent Public Accountants

To Xeta Technologies, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidaied balance sheets of Xeta Technologies, Inc. {formerly Xeta Corporation, an Oklahoma
corporation) and subsidiaries as of October 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders'
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2007, These financial statements are the
responsivility of the Company's management,  Cur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits,

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting princinles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinian,

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respacts, the financial position of
Xeta Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Octaber 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended October 371, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Tulsa, Oklahoma
December 11, 2001
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ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Current portion of net investment in sales-type leases and other receivahles
Trade accounts receivabie, net
Inventories, net
Deferred tax asset, net
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Total current assets

Noncurrent Assets:
Goodwill, net of amortization
Net investment in sales-type leases,
less current portion above
Property, plant & equipment, net

Capitalized software production costs, net of accumulated amortization of $873,066 & $693,066

Other assets
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES & SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Octoper 31, 2001

Qctober 31.2000

Current liabilities:
Current partion of long-term debt
Revolving fine of credit
Accounts payable
Unearned revenue
Accrued liabifities
Accrued federal and state income taxes
Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion above
Accrued long-term liabilities
Unearned service revenue
Noncurrent deferred tax liability, net

Commitments

Shareholders' equity:
Preferred stock: $.10 par value; 50,000 shares
autharized, O issued
Common stock; $.0071 par value; 50,000,000
shares authorized, 10,256,740 and 9,662,736
issued at October 31, 2001 and 2000
respectively
Paid-in capital
Retained eamnings
Less treasury stack, at cost
Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities & shareholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.

$597,889 $926,330
2,534,692 2,609,976
15,907,101 30,139,623
9,008,965 8,135,062
1,013,748 1,133,487
916,461 338,828
20,978,856 43,283,306
25,844,567 20,579,358
1,092,917 2,505,841
9,599,249 6,854,851
417,955 587,956
261,333 327,658
37,306,021 30,865,665
$67,284877 § 74148971
$4,288,337 $6,820,754
5,350,000 1,000,000
4,547,347 11,750,607
2,528,103 4,513,029
2,061,152 3,927,803
- 125,942
18,764,939 28,138,135
14,853,349 17,983,011
1,299,114 1,299,114
454,166 1,039,949
715,883 123.603
17,322.512 20,445,677
10,256 9,662
11,637,812 9,486,776
21,794,017 18,313,380
(2,244 659 (2,244 659)
31,197,426 25,565,159
$ 67284877 $ 74.148.971




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS »

)

For the Twelve Months Ending October 31, :

2001 2000 1999 -

»

Commercial equipment sales $41,964,072 $54,198,673 $- -
Lodging systems sales 10,063,623 16,032,612 17,857,086 it
Installation and service revenuss 33,105,152 31,219,629 18,766,095 :g
Other revenues 921,182 967.987 639,871 s-
Net sales and service revenues 86,054,029 102,418,901 37,263,052 »
-

Cost of commercial equipment 29,811,902 37,403,184 - »
Cost of lodging systems 6,449,040 10,076,638 10,412,029 *
Installation and services costs 23,511,694 21,627,342 12,206,057 f:
Cost of other revenues & corporate COGS 2.758,657 2481664 654.606 -
Total cost of sales and service 62,631,287 71,589,028 23,272,692 -
)

Gross profit 23522742 30,829 873 13,990,360 »

»

Operating expenses: »
Selling, general and administrative 14,564,120 16,864,374 5,686,350 :
Amortization 1,609,466 1,587,230 1.936.057 -
Total operating expenses 16,173,586 18,457,604 7.622.407 -
Income from operations 7,349,156 12,378,269 6,367,953 2
_ "
Interest expense (2,095,331 (2,354,793 - g:
Interest and other income 471,812 594,143 664.903 .
Subtotal (1,623,519) (1,760,650) 664,903 -

=

Income Defore provision for income ]
taxes 5,725,637 10,617,619 7,032,856 »
Provision for income taxes 2,245,000 4,156,000 2,750,000 :
»

Net income $3,480,637 _$6,461.619 $4,282.856 -
)

»

Famnings per share »
Basic $0.38 $0.77 $0.53 "j:
Diluted $0.36 _$0.66 $0.46 -
-

Welghted average sharss outstanding , 9,061,105 8,350,299 8,021,248 Py
Weighted average shares equivalents 9,608,048 9,761,703 9,254.447

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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Common_Stock

Treasury Stock

Shares issued Par Velue shares Amount Paid-in Capital  _Refained Eaming:
Balance-October 31, 1998 2,286,284 $228,628 264,547 $(1,748,116) $5,135,818 $7.568.905
Stock options exercised $.10 par value 32,067 3,207 49,469
Tax benefit of stack options 188,568
Treasury stock purchased 65150 (1,158,043
Two-for-one stock split 2,318,351 329,697
Net income 4,282,856
Balance-October 31, 1999 4,636,702 231,835 659,394 (2,906,159) 5,373,855 11,851,761
Treasury stack issued in acquisition {(150,000) 661,500 2,638,500
Stock options exercised $.05 par value 72,166 3,607 182,693
Change in par value of comman stock (226,025) 226,025
Two-for-one stack spiit 4,708,868 509,384
Stack options exercised $.007 par value 245,000 245 61,007
Tax benefit of stock options 1,004,696
Net income 6,461,619
Balance-October 31, 2000 0,662,736 9662 1018788  (2,244,659) 9,486,776 18,313,380
Stock options exercised $.007 par value 594,004 594 369,169
Tax benefit of stock aptions 1,781,867
Net income 3,480,637
Balance-Octoer 31, 2001 10.256.740 $10256  1.018,788 $(2.244659  $11.637,812 __ §21.794017 _

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization
Loss on sale of assets
Pravision for returns & doubtiul accounts receivable
Provision for excess and obsclete inventary
Change in assets and liabilities net of acquisitions:

(increase) decrease in net investment in sales-type leases & other receivables

{Increase) decrease In trade receivables
{Increase) decrease in inventories
{increass) in deferred tax asset
(
(

Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets
)

Increase) decrease in prepaid taxes

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable

Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue

Increase {decrease) in accrued income taxes

Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities

Increase (decrease) in deferred fax liabilities
Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from Investing activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Purchase of long distance contracts
Additions to capitalized software
Additions fo property, plart & equipment
Proceeds from sale of assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of debt
Proceeds from draws on revolving line of credit
Principal payments on debt
Payments on revolving line of credit
Purchase of freasury stock
Exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest
Cash paid during the period for income taxes
Treasury shares given in UST acquisition

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.

For the Twelve Months Ended October 31,

2001 2000 1999
$3.480,637 $6.461619 $4.082.856
1,004,518 819,439 430,599
1,600,466 1,587,230 1,936,057
10,693 17,665 -
290,000 191,000 36,000
1,300,000 325,000 496,170
1,488,208 1,559,228 (3,709,850)
15,111,338 (9,072,384) (907, 448)
(2,548,903) 1,392,523 (1,723,570)
(502,687) 111,533 (47,008)
159,284 [116,751) (391,144)
(562,958) 18,700 .
(7,782,294) 1,104,108 379,645
(2,794,181) (2,834,396) 2,667,239
1,655,925 1,130,639 6,602
(2,107,597) (97,501) 670283
82280 (16,421) 123,143
6.313.092 (3,880,388) (33,190)
9.793.729 2581231 4249666
(5,595,193) (26,556,154) -
(156,500}
(68,550) (114,036)
(3,585,867) (2,720,054) (1,555,769)
1,200 82,325 -
_ (9,179,860, (20262.433)  (1.826.305) _
5,500,000 06,020,432
40,035,000 23,750,000
(11,162,073) (4,216,664)
(35,685,000) (22,750,000)
(1,158,043)
369.763 247 552 52676
(942 ,310) 23,051,320 (1,105.367)
(328,447) (3,629,882) 1,317,994
926.330 4,556,212 3238218
$507.880 $926.330 $4.556.212
$2,760,516 $1,620,462 $18,296
$1.645,414 $2,956,054 $2.675,135
$ . $3,300,000 $ -

i
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2001

1. BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Business

XETA Technologies, Inc. (XETA or the Company) is a nationwide integrator of voice and data technologies. The Company provides
consulting, sales, engineering, project management, installation and service of voice, data, IP networking solutions, Micrasoft Exchange
applications, unified messaging systems, call centers, and telephony over 1P solutions to the commercial market. These products are
manufactured by a variety of manufacturers including Avaya, Cisco, and Hitachi, In addition, the Company provides voice systems and
XETA-manufactured call accounting systems to the hospitality industry. XETA is an Oklahoma corporation,

U.S. Technologies Systems, Inc. (USTY is a wholly-owned subsidiary of XETA and was purchased on November 30, 1999 as part of
the Company's expansion into the commercial market. Xetacom, Inc. (Xetacom), is & wholly-owned, but dormant, subsidiary of the
Company.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at October 31, 2001, consist of maney market accounts and commercial bank accounts,

Lease Accounting
A portion of the Company's revenues has been generated using sales-type leases. The Company sells some of its call accounting

systemns 1o the lodging industry Under these sales-type leases to ba paid over three, four and five-year periods. Because the present
value (computed at the rate implicit in the lease) of the minimum payments under these sales-ype leases equals or excaeds 90 percent
of the fair market value of the systems and/or the length of the lease exceeds 75 percent of the estimated economic Iife of the
equipment, the Company recognizes the net effect of these transactions as a sale, as required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States.

Interest and other incorne is primarlly the recognition of interest income on the Company's sales-type lease receivables and income
eamed on short-term cash investmants. Interest income from a sales-type lease represents that portion of the aggregate payments to
De received over the life of the lease, which exceeds the present value of such payments using a discount factor equal to the rate implicit
in the underlying leases.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from sales-type leases as discussed abave under the caption 'Lease Accounting.” Service revenue
is recognized monthly over the life of the related sales-type lease or service agreement on a straight-line basis. In fiscal year 2000, the
Company changed its revenue recognition policy refated to equipment sales, in order to provide better matching of revenues and
expenses under the Company's new method. Equipment revenues from call accounting and PBX systems sales are recognized upon
shipmant of the system and installation revenue from system sales is recognized upon insteffation.  Under the prior method, call
accounting system sales were recognized 75 percent upon shipment with the remaining 25 percent recognized upon installation. PBX
system sales were recognized 100 percent upon installation.  The accounting change was not material to the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

The Company capitalizes the cost of all significant property, plant and equipment additions including equipment manufactured by the
Company and installed at customer locations under PBX service agreements. Depreciation is computed over the estimated useful Iife of
the asset or the terms of the Iease for leasehold improvements, whichever is shorter, on a straight-line basis. When assets are retired or
sold, the cost of the assets and the refated accumulated depreciation is removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or oss is
included in income. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.

Research and Development and Capitalization of Software Production Costs

The Company capitalizes softwars production costs related to a product upon the establishment of technological feasibility as defined
by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Amortization is provided on a product-by-product basis based upon
the estimated useful life of the software (generally seven years). All othar research and development costs (including those related to
software for which technological feasibility has not been established) are expensed as incurred,




Several items of income and expense, including certain sales revenues under sales-type leases, are included in the financial
statements in different years than they are included in the income tax returns. Deferred income taxes are recorded for the tax effect of
these differences.

Warranty and Unearned Revenue

The Company typically provides a one-year warranty from the date of installation of its systems. The Company defers a portion of
gach system sale to be recognized as service revenue during the warranty period. The amount deferred is generally equal to the sales
nrice of a maintenance contract for the type of system under warranty and the length of the warranty period.

The Company also records depasits received on sales orders and prepayments for maintenance contracts as unearned revenues.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimatss and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expensss during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Segment Information

In the first quarter of 2000, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 1371 (SFAS 137), "Disclosures
about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” in conjunction with its acquisition of UST! and the Company's internal
realignment. The Company divided its operations into three reportable segmenis: commercial system sales, lodging system sales and
installation and service. The Company defines commercial System sales as sales to the non-lodging industry. Installation and sarvice
revenues represent revenues earned from installing and maintaining systems for customers in both the commercial and lodging
segments. :

The reporting segments follow the same accounting policies used for the Company's consclidated financial statements and described
in the summary of significant accounting policies. Company management evaluates a segment's performance based upon gross
margins. Assets are not allocated o the segments. Sales o customers located outside of the United States are immaterial.

The following is tabuiation of business segment information for 2001, 2000 and 1999, Segment information for 2000 and 1999
Nas been restated to conform to the current presentation,

Commercial Lodging Instaliation and Other
Equipment Sales Systems Sales Service Revenues Revenue Total

2001

Sales $ 41,964,072 $ 10,063,623 $ 33,105,152 $ 921,182 $86,054,029
Cost of sales 29,811,902 6,449,040 23,511 694 2,758,651 62,531,287
Gross profit 12,152,170 3,614 583 9,593,458 (1,837,469) 23,522,742
2000

Sales 54,198,673 16,032,612 31,219,629 967,987 102,418,901
Cost of sales 37,403,184 10,076,638 21,627,342 2,487,864 71,589,028
Gross profit 16,795,489 5,955,974 9,592,287 (1,513,877) 30,829,873
1999

Sales 17,857,086 18,766,095 639,871 37,263,052
Cost of sales 10,412,029 12,206,057 654,606 23,272,692
Gross profit 7,445 057 6,560,038 (14,735) 13,990,360

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2007, the FASB issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS™) No’s 141 and 142, "Business Combinations”
and “Goadwill and Other Intangible Assets”, respectively. SFAS 147 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to
be accounted for using the purchase method. Under SFAS 142, goodwill recorded as part of a business combination Is no longer
amortized, but instead will be subject to at least annual assessment for impairment by applying a fairvalue-based test, Also, SFAS 142
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rented, or exchanged, regardless of the acquirer's intent to do so. These intangible assets will then be amortized over their useful fives,
resulting in amortization expense. The new rule does not require that companies evaluate existing goodwill on their books for allocation
Into separately recognized intangible assets. However, companies, at the time of adoption of the new standard, are required to conduct
an Initial fair-valus-based goodwill impairment test to determine if the carrying value of the goodwill on thelr balance sheet is impaired.
The Company has elected 10 early adopt SFAS 142 on November 1, 2001, In conjunction with the adoption of the standard, the
Company engaged an independent valuation expert to conduct the initial assessment. The results of that assessment indicatad that no
Impairment existed in the value of recorded goodwil on the Company’s books as of Novembper 1, 2001, As a result of the adoption of
SFAS 142, the Company will no fonger record goodwill amortization in its operating results. Amortization of goodwill from acquisitions
was $1.5 milion, $1.1 million, and $1.8 miflion for the years ending October 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Based on
goodwill amounts at October 31, 2001, amortization expense of $1.4 million would have been recorded for the year ending October
31, 2002.

In June 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”. This statemant addresses financial
accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retiremant
costs. The statement amend SFAS 19, “Financial Accounting and Reporting by Oil and Gas Producing Companies.” SFAS 143 requires
that the fair value of 2 liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate
of fair value can be made, and that the associated asset retirement costs be capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived
assel. The Statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The effect of this new
standard on the Company'’s results of aperations and financial posttion is not expected to be material,

In August 20071, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment ar Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” This statement
supercedes SFAS 127, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of” and amends Accounting Principals
Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operation — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business and
Extracrdinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.” The Statement retains the basic framework of SFAS No.
121, resolves certain implementation issues of SFAS 127, extends applicability to discontinued operations, and broadens the
presentation of discontinued operations 1o include a component of an entity. The Statement will be applisd prospectively and is affective
for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after Dacember 15, 2001, Adoption of the Statement is not expected o have
any initial impact on the Company's results of operations or financial position.,

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2000 and 1999 income statements 1o conform with the 2007 presentation. These
reclassifications had no effect on net income or retained earnings.

Change in Par Value and Stock Split
On June 26, 2000, the Company reduced the par value of its common stock to $.001 and increased the authorized shares to 50
million.

The Company declared a two-for-one stack split which was effective on July 17, 2000. All share and per share amounts contained in
these financial staterments and footnotes have been restated to refiect the stock split,

2. ACQUISITIONS:

The accompanying balance sheet and statements of operations represent the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company after consolidating the opsrating results of each of the transactions discussed below since the date of acquisition.

On November 1, 2000, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Pro Networks Corparation (Pro Net) and Key
Metrology, Inc. (KM} in separate transactions. Both of thase acquisitions were made to fulfil part of the Company's growth strategy to
provide complex applications and professional services in addition to its traditional voice products and services. Both of these
transactions were accounted for using the purchase methad of accounting. The combined purchase price was $5.6 million resulting in
approximately $5.3 milion in goodwill. Prior to November 1, 2001, the Company amortized goodwill over 20 vears unless
circumstances indicated a shorter life was appropriate. Both fransactions contained earn-out provisions, which could have resulted in
adlditional purchase price being paid to the sellers; however, management anticipates that the provisions will expire uneamed.

On February 29, 2000, the Company acquired substantially all of the properties and assets {the Assels) of Advanced Communications
Technologies, Inc. (ACT) pursuant to ihe terms of an Asset Purchase Agreement (the Purchase Agreement) dated February 22, 2000,



parent corporation, Quanta Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation. The Company also assumed all of ACT's existing fiabilities as
disclosed on ACT's balance sheet with the exception of inter-company fiabllities and income taxes payable by ACT. The purchase price
of the Assets was $3 million which included the book value (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) of ACT plus $250,000. In
conjunction with the purchase, the Company recorded $874,000 of goodwil.

On November 30, 1999, the Company acquired USTI, a Missouri Subchapter S corporation. The Company purchased all of the
outstanding common stock of UST! for $26 million in cash, inclusive of $3 million in hold-backs, plus 300,000 shares of XETA common
stock held in treasury with a market value of $3.3 million on the date of issuance. At October 31, 2001, there remained $1 million in
hold-backs subject to various indemnity provisions in the purchase agreement. This amount was paid in full according to the terms of
the purchase agreement on November 30, 2001, The fransaction was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and
goodwill of $22,000,000 was added to the Company's balance shest.

The unaudited proforma information presented below consists of statement of operations data as presented If USTI's resuits had been
consolidated from the first day of the period reported.

Proforma
Year ended October 31,
2000 1999
Revenues $ 106,462,887 $ 75,213,052
Net income $ 6,869,107 $ 6,694,856
Basic earnings per share $0.82 $1.27
Diluted earnings per share $0.70 $1.10

Please see Note 1 above regarding the Company's adoption of SFAS 142 and the related accounting for goocwill beginning
November 1, 2007,

3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE:

Trade accounts receivable consist of the following at Octaber 31 2001 2000
Trade receivables $ 17,205,346 $ 32,003,881
Less- reserve for doubtiul accounts 1,298,245 1,864,258
Net frade recsivables $ 15,907,101 3 30,139,623
Adjustments to the reserve for doubtiul accounts consist of the following at October 31 2007 2000
Balance, beginning of period $ 1,864,258 $185,168
Acquired at acquisition . - 1,642,777
Provision for doubtiul accounts 290,000 191,000
Net write-0ffs (856,013 (154,681

Balance, end of period $ 1298245 $ 1,864 258
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Inventories are sfated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out or average) or market and consist of the following components

at October 31: 2001 2000
Raw materials $ 1,236,411 $1,235,842
Finished goods and spare parts 9,459,787 8.032.695
10,696,198 9,268,537
Less- reserve for excess and obsolste inventories 1,687,233 1133475
Total inventories, net _$9.008,965 $8.135062
Adjustments to the reserve for excess and obsclete inventories
consist of the following: 2001 2000
Balance, beginning of period $1.133,475 $821.170
Provision for excess and obsolete inventories 1,300,000 325,000
Adjustments to inventories (746,242) (12.695)
Balance, end of period $1.687.233 $ 1133475
5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:
Property, plant and equipment consist of the following at October 31:
Estimated Useful
Lives 2001 2000
Building 20 $ 2,397,954 $ 2,397,954
Data processing and computer field equipment 3-5 7,862,996 4,244,213
Land ' - 611,582 611,582
Office furniture 5 1,084,117 958,385
Auto 5 251,477 266,668
Other 3-7 673,538 677137
Total property, plant and equipment 12,881,064 9,155,939
Less- accumulated depreciation 3.282.415 2.301.088
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 9,599,249 $ 6,854,851
6. ACCRUED LIABILITIES:
Accrued liabllities consist of the following at October 31:
2001 2000
Commissions $ 493,915 $1,608,576
Interest 144,138 708,750
Payrall : 416,406 401,632
Bonuses 541,382 334,476
Vacation 398,100 294,905
Other 57,2711 579,464
Total current 2,051,152 3,927,803
Noncurrent liabilities 1299114 1,289,114
Total accrued liabilities $ 3.350.266 $5226917




Unearned revenue consists of the following at October 31:

Service contracts

Warranty service

Customer depasits

Systems shipped but not installed

Other

Total current unearned revenus

Noncurrent uneamed service contract revenue
Tofal uneamed revenue

8. INCOME TAXES:

2007 2000
$1,375,018 $1,884,155
578,964 1,001,791
370,714 1,309,159
139,247 196,766
64,160 121,168
2,528,103 4,513,029
454,166 1,039,949
§ 2,982,269 $ 5,652,978

Income tax expense is based on prefax financial accounting income.  Deferred income taxes are computed using the asset-liability
method in accordance with SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes" and are provided on all temporary differences betwsen the

financial basis and the tax basis of the Company's assets and liabiliies.

The income tax provision for the years ending October 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, consists of the following:

2001 2000 1999

Current provision — federal $ 1,630,630 $ 4,440,000 $ 2,176,000
Current provision — state 350,800 753,000 498,000
Deterred provision (benefft) 263,570 (1,037,000) 76,000

Total provision $ 2,245,000 $4.156.000 $ 2,750,000
The reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended Oclober 31,
2007 2000 1999

Statutory rate 34 % 34 % 34 %
State income taxes 7% 7% 7%
Other 2% 2% (2)%
Effeclive rate 39 % 39 % 39 %

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as of

October 31 are presenied below:

Deferred tax assets:
Prepaid service contracts
Nondeductible reserves
Unamortized cost of service contracts
Other
Total deferred tax asset
Deferred tax liabilifies:
Tax income 1o be recognized on sales-type lease contracts
Unamortized capitalized software development costs
Other
Total deferred tax liabillity
Net deferred tax asset

2007 2000
$ 247,423 $ 337,559
925,917 1,630,311
102,412 31,186
95,599 29,224
1,371,351 2,028,280
394,624 603,606
160,495 203,305
518,367 211,485
1,073,486 1,018,396
$ 297,865 $ 1.009.884




Financing for the acquisitions described in Note 2 was provided through an amended and restated credit facifity with a bank. The
credit facility consists of term loans that were used to finance most of the cash purchase price for each of the acquisitions and a
revoling ling of credit. On October 31, 2001, the credit facility was restructured to reflect the Company's current eamings levels,
expand the revolving line of credit to $9 million, and to more fully collateralize the outstanding debt. At October 31, 2007, long-term
debt consisted of the following:

October 31,
2001 2000

$9 milion bank fine of credit, due October 31, 2002, secured
by a borrowing base of accounts receivable and inventories $ 5,350,000 $ 1,000,000
Term loan, payable in monthly installments of $259,861 at
October 37, 2001 and $433,674 at October 31, 2000,
due October 31, 2003 15,591,686 21,803,765
Real estats term note, payable in monthly instalments of
$14,166, due October 31, 2003, secured by a first mortgage
an the Company's headquarters building. 2,550,000
Acquisition hold-back, payable cn November 30, 2001 1,000,000 3,000,000

' 24,491,686 25,803,765
Less-current maturities 9,638,337 7,820,754

$14,853,349 $17.983 011

Maturities of long-term debt for each of the years ended October 31, are as follows:

2002 $9,638,337
2003 14,853,349

Interest on all outstanding debt under the credit facility accrues at either a) the London Interhank Offered Rate (which was 2.34% at
October 31, 2007) plus 1.25% t0 3.25%, as determined by the collateral underlying the loan and the ratio of the Company's total
funded debt to ERITDA (as defined in the credit facility) or b the bank's prime rate (which was 5.5% at October 31, 2001) minus 0% to
1.5%. The credit facllity requires, among other things, that the Company maintains a minimum net worth, working capital and debt
service coverage ratio and limits capital expenditures. At October 31, 20071, the Company was in compliance with the covenants of the
credit facility.

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for bank loans with similar terms and average maiurities, the fair
value of the long-term debt approximates the carrying value.

10. STOCK OPTIONS:

During fiscal 2000, the Company adopted a new stock option plan (2000 Plan) for officers, directors and key employees. Tne 2000
Plan replaces the previous 1988 Plan, which had expired. Under the 2000 Plan, the Board of Directors or a committee thereof
determine the option price, not to be less than fair market value, the date of the grant, number of options granted, and the vesting
period. Although there are exceptions, generally options that have been granted under the 2000 Plan expire 10 years from the date of
grant, have 3-year cliff-vesting and are incentive stock options as defined under the applicable IRS tax rues. Options granted under the
previous 1988 Plan generally vested 33 1/3% per year after a 1-year waiting period,



(1988 and 2000 Plans)

Price Per
Number Share
Balance, October 31, 1999 337,076 $025-438
Granted v 258,400 $9.06-18.13
Exercised (99,732 $025-438
Forfeited (21,100 $11.00-18.13
Balance, October 31, 2000 474,644 $025-18.13
Granted 119,350 $531-11.63
Exercised (84,004) $025-438
Forfsited (-58,650) $9.06-1813
Balance, October 31, 2001 447,140 $0.31-1813

At October 31, 2007 and 2000, options to purchase 170,840 and 347,804 shares, respectively, are exercisable.

The Company has aiso granted options outside the Plan to certain officers and directors. These options generally expire ten years
from the date of grant and are exercisable over the period stated in each opticn. The table below presents information regarding options
granted outside the Plan.

Quitstanding Options
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Price Per
Numbser Share
Balance, October 37, 1999 2,400,000 $ 0.25-5.94
Granted 40,000 $15.53
Exercised (289,600) $0.25
Balance, Cetober 31, 2000 2,150,400 $ .25-1553
Granted - $ -
Exercised (500,000 $0.25-581
Forfeited (200,000) $5.81
Balance, October 31, 2001 1,450,400 $0.25-15.53

Accaunting for stock options issued to employees is governed by SFAS 123, "Accounting for Stock Based Compensation.”
Generally, SFAS 1283 requires companies to record in their financial statements the compensation expense, if any, related to stock
options issued to employees. Under an alternative accounting method adopted by the Company, SFAS 123 allows the Company to only
disclose the impact of issued stock options as if the expense had been recorded in the financial statements, Had the Company recorded
compensation expense related 10 its stock option plans in accordance with SFAS 123, the Company's net income and sarnings per
share would have been reduced 1o the pro forma amounts indicated below:

For the Year Ended October 31,

2001 2000 1999

NET INCOME:

As reported $ 3,480,637 $ 6,461,619 $ 4,282,856
Pro forma $2,796,612 $ 5,797,629 $ 4,088,298
EARNINGS PER SHARE:

As reported — Basic $ .38 $ .77 $ .53
As reported — Diluted $ .36 $ .66 $ .46
Pro forma — Basic $ .31 $ .69 $ .51
Pro forma — Diluted $.29 $ .59 $ 44

The fair value of the options granted wes estimated at the date of grant using the Modified Black-Scholes European pricing mode! with
the following assumptions: risk free interest rate (4.82% to 5.78%), dividend yield (0.00%), expected volatlity (81.77% to 81.32%),
and expected life (€ years).




All Basic earnings per common share were computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common
stock outstanding during the reporting period. A reconclliation of net income and weighted average shares used in computing basic and
dituted eamings per share is as follows:

For the Year Ended October 31, 2007

Income Shares Per Share
(Numerator) {Denominator) Amount
Basic EPS
Net income $3,480.637 9,061,105 $ .38
Dilutive effect of stock options 636.943
Diluted EPS
Net income $3.480,637 9,698.048 $ .36
For the Year Ended October 31, 2000
Income Shares Per Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
Basic EPS
Net income $ 6461618 8,350,299 $ .77
Dilutive effect of stock options 1,411,404
Diluted EPS
Net income $6,461,619 9,761,703 $ 66
For the Year Ended October 31, 1999
Income Shares Per Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
Basic EPS
Net income $4,282.856 8,021,248 $ .53
Dilutive effect of stock options 1.233.194
Diluted EPS
Net income $4 282,856 9,254,442 $ .46

12. SALES-TYPE LEASES:

Minimum future annual payments to be received under various leases are as follows:

Sales-Type
Lease Payments

Receivable
2002 $2,231,108
2003 785,080
2004 291,432
2005 2,264
3,309,884
Less- imputed interest 324,329
Present valug of minimum payments $ 2,985,555



Marriott International/Marriott Host (Marriott) is @ major customer of the Company. The Company has systems installed at various
Marriott owned or managed hotels under the brands "Marriott," "Residence Inn by Marriott," "Courtyard by Marriott," and "Fairfield Inn by
Marriott." Revenues from Marriott represented 22 percent of the Company's revenuss for the year 1999, Marriott has been a major
customer of the Company since 1986 and management considers its relationship with Marriott to be good.

During fiscal 2000 and 2001, no single customer represented 10 percent or more of reventes,

The Company extends credit to its customers in the normal course of business, including under its sales-type lease program. As a
result, the Company is subject to changes in the economic and regulatory environments or other conditions, which, in tum, may impact
the Company's overall credit risk. However, the Company sells to a wide variety of customers, and except for its hospitality customers,
does not focus its sales and marketing efforts on any particular industry. Management considers the Company's credit risk to be
satisfaciorlly diversified and believes that the allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate to absorb estimated losses at October 31,
2007 and 2000.

14. EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS:

The Board of Directors adopted a new bonus plan in fiscal 2000 to replace the plan previcusly in place. Under the new plan,
bonuses were o be paid to executives and key employees based on targeted financial results, which reflected the Company's annual
operating pian. Those targeted results were not fully achieved in fiscal 2007 or 2000; however, the Company elected to pay partial
bonuses o key employees of approximately $157,500 and $120,000, respectively.

In fiscal year 1999, $1,114,000 was paid under the previous bonus plan.

15. CONTINGENCIES:

Litigation

Since 1994, the Company has been monitoring numerous patent infringement lawsuits filed by Phonometrics, Inc., a Florida company,
against certain telecommunications equipment manufacturers and hotels who use such equipment. While the Company has not been
named as a defendant in any of these cases, several of its call accounting customers are named defendants. These customers have
notified the Company that they will seek indemnification under the terms of their contracts with the Company. However, because there
are other equipment vendors implicated along with the Company in the cases filed against its customers, the Company has never
assumed the outright defense of its customers in any of these actions.

Al of the cases filed by Phonometrics against the Company’s customers were originally filed in, or fransferred fo, the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Fiorida. In October 1998 the Florida Court dismissed all of the cases filed against the hotels for
failure to state a claim, relying on the precedent established in Phonometrics” unsuccessful patent infringement lawsuit against Northern
Telecom. Phonometrics appealed the Florida Court's order and the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit reversed the
Florida Court's dismissal of the cases, but did so solely upon the basis of a procedural matter. The Appeals Court made no ruling with
respect to the merits of Phonometrics” case and remanded the cases back to the Horida Court for further proceedings. These cases
were reopened in April 2000. Thereafter, Phonometrics filed motions to disqualify the Florida Court judge hearing the cases. These
mations were denied by the Florida Court and Phonameirics appealed the denial, The cases were stayed by the Florida Court pending
the outcome of this appeal. In November 2001, saveral defendant hotels filed motions for summary judgment. The Florida Court issued
an order lifing the stay on the cases only for purposes of hearing motions for summary judgment. The Company will continue fo
monitor proceedings in these actions.

16. RETIREMENT PLAN:

The Company has a 401k} retirement plan (Plan). In addition to employes contrioutions, the Company makes discretionary matching
and profit sharing contributions to the Plan based on percentages set by the Board of Directors. Contributions made by the Company to
the Plan were approximately $534,000, $355,000 and $168,000 for the years ending October 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999,
respectively.
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The following quarterly financial data has been prepared from the financial records of the Company without an audit, and reflects all
adjustments which, in the opinion of management, were of a normal, recurring nature and necessary for a fair presentation of the results
of aperations for the interim periods presented.

For the Fiscal Year Ended October 31, 2001

Quarter Ended
January 31, April 30, July 31, October 31,
2001 2001 2001 2001
(in thousands, except per share data)
Net sales $25123 $ 22597 $ 20,964 $ 17,370
Gross profit 8,864 5,919 5,777 4,063
Operating income 2,622 1,112 2,034 1,581
Net income 1,265 399 978 849
Basic EPS $0.14 $0.04 $0.11 $0.09
Diluted EPS $0.13 $004 . $0.10 $0.09

For the Fiscal Year Ended October 31, 2000

Quarter Ended
January 31, April 30, July 31, October 31,
2000 2000 2000 2000
{in thousands, except per share data)
Net sales $ 20,550 $27,473 $ 25580 $ 28,816
@Gross profit 6,227 7,922 8,074 8,606
Operating income 2,624 3,335 2,964 3,465
Net income 1,520 1,726 1,436 1,780
Basic EPS $019 $0.21 $017 $0.20
Diluted EPS $0.16 $0.17 $0.15 $0.18






ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None.

Part Three

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS; COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.

The directors, executive officers and significant employees of the Company are set forth below, All officers and members of the Board of
Directors serve for a term of one year or untl their successors are duly elected and qualified. Directors may be removed by holders of 66 2/3%
of the Company’s outstanding voting shares.

Name Age Positions With Company

Jack R. Ingram Age 58 Chairman of the Board, Chisf Executive Officer, and President

Robert B. Wagner Age 40 Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of Finance, Secretary, Treasurer, and Director
Larry N, Patterson Age 45 Senior Vice President, Sales and Service

Donald E. Reigel Age 47 Regional Vice President, Sales - Central

James J. Burke Age 57 Regional Vice President, Sales — Western

Sandra J. Connor Age 37 Regional Vice President, Sales — Eastern

Ron B. Barber Age 47 Director

Donald T. Duke Age 52 Director

Dr. Robert D. Hisrich Age 57 Director

Ronald L. Siegenthaler Age 58 Director

A rief account of the business experience for the past five years of the individuals listed abave follows.

Mr. Ingram has been the Company's Chief Executive Officer since July 1990, He also served as the Company’s President from July 1990
until August 1999 and re-assumed that position in June 2001, He has been a director of the Company since March 1989, Mr. Ingram’s
business experience prior to joining the Company was concentrated in the il and gas industry. Mr. ingram holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in
Petroleum Engineering from the University of Tulsa.,

Mr. Wagner nhas been the Company's Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer since March 1983, He has been with the Company
since July 1988 and became a member of the Board of Directors in March 1996. Mr. Wagner is a Certified Public Accountant licensed in
Oklahoma and recelved his Bachelor of Science Degree in Accounting from Oklahoma State University.

Mr. Patterson joined the Company in March 2000 and serves as Senior Vice President, Sales and Service. Prior to his employment with the
Company, Mr. Patterson worked for Exxon Corporation and held various executive positions in Europe, Asia and Latin America with Exxon
Company, International. He is a member of the American Management Association and is active in Organizational Development, Leadership
Development and Invesiment Management activities. Mr. Patterson received his Bachelor of Science Degree in Engineering from Oklahoma State
University,

Mr. Reigel joined the Company in June 1993 as PBX Product Sales Manager. He was promoted 10 Vice President of Marketing and Sales in
June 1995; became Vice President of Hospitality Sales in December, 1999; and is currently Regional Vice President, Sales — Central. Prior to his
employmsnt with the Company, Mr. Reigel served as a national accounts sales manager for Willel Communications Systems. M. Reigel recelved
his Bachelor of Science Degree in Business from the University of Colorado.

Mr. Burke joined the Company in November 1999 in conjunction with the acouisition of UST! and is currently Regional Vice President, Sales —
Western, Prior to his employment with the Company, he had been employed by UST! since August 1890 and served as the Western Region
Sales Director and National Sales Director. Mr, Burke received his Bachelor of Science Degree in Business from Niagara University.

Ms. Connor joined the Company in September 2000 and is currently Regional Vice President, Sales — Eastern. Prior 1o her employment with
the Company, Ms. Connor served in various sales and sales operations assignments at Lucent Technologies, most recently as Area Sales Vice
President for the New England Region - Enterprise Networks Division. Ms, Connor recelved her Bachelor of Science Degree in Management from
the University of Massachusetts, Lowell,




Mr. Barber has been a director of the Company since March 1987, He has been engaged in the private practice of law since October 1980
and is a shareholder in the law firm of Barber & Bartz, a Professional Corporation, in Tulsa, Oklahoma, which serves as counsel to the Company.
Mr. Barber is also a Certified Public Accountant licensed in Oklahoma. He received his Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Administration
(Accounting) from the University of Arkansas and his Juris Dactorate Degree from the University of Tulsa.

Mr. Duke has been a director of the Company since March 18971, He is President of Duke Energy Co. L.L.C., an oil and gas consulting and
investment firm.  Mr. Duke has been in senior management in the ail and gas industry since 1980, including time as President and Chief
Operating Officer of Hadson Petroleum (USA), Inc., a domestic oil and gas subsidiary of Hadson Corporation, where he was responsitle for all
phases of exploration and production, fand, accounting, operations, product marketing and budgeting and planning. M. Duke has a Bachelor of
Science Degres in Petroleum Engineering from the University of Oklahoma.

Dr. Hisrich has been a director of the Company since March 1987, He occupies the A. Malachi Mixon lIl Chair in Entrepreneurial Studies and
is Professor of Marketing and Policy Studies at the Weatherhead School of Management at Case Western Reserve University in Cleveland, Ohio.
Prior to assuming such positions, he occupied the Bovaird Chalir of Entrepreneurial Studies and Private Enterprise and was Professor of Marketing
at the College of Business Administration for the University of Tulsa. He is also a marketing and management consultant. He is @ member of the
Board of Directors of Jameson Inn, Inc., and Noteworthy Medical Systems, Inc., @ membar of the Editorial Boards of the Journal of Venturing and
the Journal of Small Business Management, and a member of the Board of Directors of Enterprise Development, Inc. Dr. Hisrich received his
Bachelor of Arts Degres in English and Science from DePauw University and his Master of Business Administration Degree (Marketing) and Ph.D.
in Business Administration (Marketing, Finance, and Quantitative Methods) from the University of Cincinnati

Mr. Siegenthaler has been a director of the Company since its incorporation. He also served &s its Executive Vice President from July 1990
untl March, 1999, Since 1974, through SEDCO Investments, a partnership in which Mr. Siegenthaler is a pariner, and as an individual, Mr.
Siegenthaler has been involved as pariner, shareholder, officer, directar, or sole proprietor of a number of business entities with significant
involvement in fabrication and marketing of steel, steel products and other raw material, real estate, oil and gas, and telecommunications. Mr.
Siegenthaler received his Bachelor's Degree in Liberal Arts from Oklahoma State University.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Based solely upon a review of (i) Forms 3 and 4 and amendments thereto furnished to the Company during its most recent fiscal year, (il
Forms 5 and amendments thereto furnished to the Company with respect to its most recent fiscal year, and (i) written representations made to the
Company by its directors and officers, the Company knows of na director, officer, or beneficial owner of more than ten percent of the Company's
Common Stock who has failed o file on a timely basis reports of beneficial ownership of the Company's Commeon Stock as required by Section
16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except as follows: Mr, Hisrich was late in fiing his Statements of Changes in
Beneficial Ownership on Form 4 for the month of February 20071, Mr. Jon Wiese, former President and Co-CEO of the Company, was late in filing
his Statement of Changes in Beneficiat Ownership on Form 4 for the month of August 2001,

ITEM 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

That portion of the Company’s definiive Proxy Statement appearing under the caption “Executive Compensation,” to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission pursuant to Reguiation 14A on or before February 28, 2002 and to be used in connection with the Company's Annual
Mesting of Shareholders to be held March 28, 2002 is hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT.

That portion of the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement appearing under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management,” to be flled with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A on or before February 28, 2002 and 1o be
used in connection with the Company's Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held March 28, 2002 is hereby incorporated by reference.

[TEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

That portion of the Company's definitive Proxy Statement appearing under the caption “Related Transactions,” to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A on or before February 28, 2002 and 10 be used in connection with the Company’s Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be held March 28, 2002 is hereby incorporated by reference.
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ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ONZZI‘:ORM 8-K.
(@) 1 Financial Statements — See Index to Financial Statements at Page 20 of this Form 10-K.
(2) Financial Statement Schedule - None.
3) Exhibits — See Exhibit Index at Page 25 of this Form 10-K.
(b) The Company filed no report on Form 8-K during the last quarter of the fiscal year ended October 31, 2001,
(c) See Exhibit Index at Page 25 of this Form 10-K.

(d) See Index 1o Financial Statements at Page 20 of this Form 10-K.




Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834, the registrant has caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

XETA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

January 29, 2002 By QW/ A~ —29%

Jac%(ngram Chief Fxecutive Officer””

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the Tallowing persons on behalf
of the registrant and In the capacities and on the dates indicated.

January 29, 2002 Q"/’“/ / ‘%/L%

J&K R, Ingram, Chief Executive Offiee er, President and Director

January 29, 2002 S B, Llase—

Robert B. Wagner, Vice Presiden{ of Finance, Chief Financial Officer, and Director

January 29, 2002 M . /@é——\

Donald T. Duke, Director

January 29, 2002 Az D /7

Ronald L. Siegenthaler, Director g
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Description

Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement, liquidation or succession — None.

()

(i)

Articles of Incorporation —

@)

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant -- Incorporated by reference to Exhibits
3.1 and 3.2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on June 17, 1987 (File No. 33-
7841).

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation -- incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.2 10 the Registrant's Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed on July
28, 1999 (File No. 33-62173),

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation — Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3(i)(c) to the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2000, filed on June 14, 2000 (File No.
0-16231).

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation — Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.4 10 the Company’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 to the Registration Statement Form S-8, filed on June
28, 2000 (File No. 33-62173).

Bylaws —

@

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant — Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(ii)(a) to the
Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2001, filed on July 14, 2001 (File No. 0-16231).

Instruments defining rights of security holders, including indentures — None other than the Amended and Restated
Certificate of Corporation of the Registrant, as amended, and Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, as identified in
Exhibit 3(i) and 3(i) to this report.

Material Contracts —

"0

"10.2

"10.3

"10.4

Dealer Agreement Among Lucent Technologies, Inc.; Distributor, Inacom Communications, Inc.; and XETA
Corporation for Business Communications Systems—Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 1o the Registrant’s
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 1999, filed on June 17, 1999 (File No. 0-16231).

Real Estate Mortgage on the Registrant’s Broken Arrow, Oklahoma property—Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
2.5 10 the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on December 15, 1999 (File No. 0-16231),

Pledge and Security Agreement relating to November 30, 1999 Credit Agreement — Incorporated by reference 10
Exhibit 2.4 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on December 15, 1999 (File No. 0-16231),

Subsidiary Guaranty by U.S. Technologies Systems, Inc. of November 30, 1999 Credit facility — Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.6 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on December 15, 1999 (File No. 0-16231).
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"10.6

"10.7

"10.8

"10.9

*10.10

1017

"10.12

"10.13

"10.14

Stock Purchase Option cated February 1, 2000 granted to Larry N, Patterson — Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2000, filed on June 14, 2000 (File
No. 0-16231),

Amendment to Dealer Agreement Among Lucent Technologies, Inc. Distributor, Inacom Communications, Inc.; and
XETA Corporation, for Business Communications Systems, dated effective March 19, 2000 — Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2000, filed on June 14,
2000 (File No. 0-16231).

XETA Technologies 2000 Stock Option Plan — Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant's Form
10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2000, flled on June 14, 2000 (File No. 0-16231).

HCX 5000® Authorized Distributor Agreement dated April 1, 2000 between Hitachi Telecom (USA), Inc. and XETA
Corporation—0Omitted as substantially identical to the Authorized Distributor Agreement dated April 8, 1993
between Hitachi America, Ltd. and XETA Corporation which was previously filed as Exhibit 10,1 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1993 (Flle No, 0-16231).

Stock Purchase Option dated August 11, 2000 granted fo Larry N. Patterson - Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.74 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2000, filed on
January 29, 2007, (File No. 0-16231).

First Amendment to Credit Agreement deted August 271, 2000 among XETA Technologies, Inc., the Lenders, the
Agent and the Arranger - Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,15 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended October 31, 2000, filed on January 29, 2001, (File No. 0-16231).

Notice of Assignment by Lucent Technologies Inc. dated September 14, 2000 of all contracts with XETA
Technologies, Inc. (including the Dealer Agreement) to Avaya Inc. - Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.76 to
the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2000, filed on January 29, 2001,
(File No. G-16231).

Asset Purchase Agreement cated as of October 31, 2000, by and among Key Metrology Integration, inc. as Seller,
its principal shareholder The Douglas Wendell Myers Revocable Living Trust, XETA Technologies, Inc., as Purchaser,
and Douglas Wendell Myers, individually - Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2000, filed on January 29, 2001, (Fle No. 0-16231).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of October 31, 2000, by and among PRO Networks Corporation, as Seller, its
sharehofders The John Gerard Sargent Revocable Living Trust and The Nancy Rhea Sargent Revocable Living
Trust, XETA Technologies, Inc., as Purchaser, and John Gerard Sargent and Nancy Rhea Sargent, individually -
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed on November 15, 2000 (File No. O-
16231).

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated June 8, 2001 among XETA Technologies, Inc., the Lenders, the
Agent and the Arranger - Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.79 1o the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the
quarter endea July 31, 2001, filed on September 14, 2001 (File No. 0-16231).
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10.15  Amended and Restated Audit Agreement dated October 31, 2007 among XETA Technologies, Inc., the Lenders
and the Agent,

(11)  Statement re: computation of per share earnings — Inapplicable.
(15)  Letter re: unaudited interim financial information - Inapolicable.
(18)  Letter re: change in accounting principles — Inapplicable.
(19)  Report furnished to security holders — None.
(22)  Published report regarding matters submitted to a vote of security holders — None.
(23)  Consents of experts and counsel
23.1  Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP
(24)  Power of Attorney — None.
(27)  Financial Data Schedule
(99)  Additional Exhibits — None.
“Previously filed,

Undertaking

in accordance with Rule 14a-3(10) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company will provide shareholders with a
separate copy of its 10-K as filed with the SEC upon written request to Corporate Secretary at the Company’s headquarters, at no
charge to the shareholders. Copies of Exhibits to such report will only be furnished upan specific request and payment of the
Company’s reasonable costs in furnishing such Exhibits.
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Technology integrators. Service innovators.™

- NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Notice is hereby given that the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of XETA
Technologies, Inc. will be held at the Tulsa Marriott Southern Hills located at 1902 East
71st Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, on March 28, 2002 at 6:30 p.m., local time, for the fol-
lowing purposes:

1. To elect six (6) members to the Company's Board of Directors to serve
until the next Annual Meeting of Shareholders and until their successors
have been elected and qualified;

2. To ratify the selection of Arthur Andersen LLP as independent certified
public accountants for the Company for the 2002 fiscal year; and

3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meet-
ing or any adjournment or adjournments thereof

The Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on February 1, 2002, as the
record date for the determination of shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the
Annual Meeting or any adjournment or adjournments thereof. Only shareholders of
record at such time will be so entitied to vote. The Company's Proxy Statement is
attached, The Proxy Statement and form of proxy will first be sent to shareholders on
or about February 22, 2002.

T 1S IMPORTANT THAT YOUR STOCK BE REPRESENTED AT THE ANNUAL MEET-
ING REGARDLESS OF THE NUMBER OF SHARES YOU HOLD. IF YOU DO NOT
EXPECT TO ATTEND THE MEETING IN PERSON, PLEASE SIGN, RATE, AND RETURN
THE ENCLOSED PROXY IN THE ACCOMPANYING ENVELOPE /TIIENGIVING OF THIS
PROXY DOES NOT AFFECT YOUR RIGHT TO VOTE IN P CINYNES
ATTEND THE MEETING

By Order of the Board of Directors

e A.

Robert B. Wagner
Secratary

February 22, 2002
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Technology integrators. Service innovators.™

1814 West Tacoma, Broken Arrow, Oklahoma 74012

PROXY STATEMENT

SOLICITATION OF PROXIES

This Proxy Statement is being furnished to shareholders of XETA Technologies, Inc. {the "Company”) by
its Board of Directors to solicit proxies for use at the Annual Megting of Shareholders to be held on March
28, 2002, at the Tulsa Marriott Southern Hills located at 1902 East 71st Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, at 6:30
p.m., local time, or at such other time and place 1o which the Annual Meeting may be adjourned.

The purpose of the Annual Meeting is (i) to elect six (6) members to the Company's Board of Directors
to serve for the ensuing year and until their successors are elected; (i) to ratify the selection of Arthur
Andersen LLP as the Company's independent certified public accountants for the fiscal year ending
October 31, 2002; and (i) at the discretion of the proxy holders, to transact any other business that may
praperly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment thereof

You are urged to promptly complete and return the accompanying proxy card in the envelope provided,
whether or not you intend to be present at the Annual Meeting. 1f you are present at the Annual Meeting
and wish 1o vote your shares in person, the accompanying proxy will, at your request, be returned to you at
the Annual Meeting, Any shareholder giving a proxy has the power to revoke it at any time before it is
exercised by executing a subsequently dated proxy, submitting a nofice of revocation to the Company, or
attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person.

Proxies properly executed and returned will be voted in accordance with the specifications marked on

the proxy card, Proxies containing no specifications will be voted in favor of the proposals described in this
Proxy Statement.

It is expected that this Proxy Statement and the accompanying form of proxy will first be mailed to
shareholders on or about February 22, 2002, The cost of soliciting proxies will be borne by the Company.
The Company will reimburse brokerage firms, banks and other nominees, custodians and fiduciaries for
their reasonable expenses incurred in sending proxy materials to beneficial owners of shares and obtaining
their instructions. The Company has retained Computershare Investor Services (“Computershare”) to assist

in the distribution of the proxies and proxy statements for an estimated fee of $660.00. Votes will be tab-
uiated by Computershare.

VOTING SECURITIES

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on February 1, 2002 (the record date) are entitied
to vote at the Annual Meeting and any adjournment thereof. As of such date, there were 8,237,952
shares of Common Stock of the Company outstanding (excluding 1,018,788 shares held in treasury).
Shareholders are entitied to one vote per share of Common Stock registered in their name on the record

2
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constitute a quorum at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes are counted as shares pres-
ent in determining whether the quorum requirement is satisfied but are not counted as votes cast in the
tabulation of votes on any matter brought before the Meeting. The affirmative vote of a majority of the

shares of the Company's Common Stock represented at the Annual Meeting is required for the election of
directors,

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information known to the Company as of December 31, 2001
regarding beneficial ownership of the Company's Common Stock, par value $.0071 per share, by (a) each
person known by the Company to own more than five percent (5%) of the Company's Common Stock, (b)
each director and nominee for election as a director of the Company, (¢) each executive officer named in
the Summary Compensation Table, and (d) all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group.

Amount and Nature

Name and Address of Beneficial Percent of
of Beneficial Owner(1) Ownership(2) Class
Jack R. Ingram 1308500 © 14.56%
Ronald L. Siegenthaler 19207,184 4 12.73%
P.0. Box 571300, Tulsa, OK 74157

Jon A Wiese 580,000 5.91%
11509 S. Granite Ave., Tulsa, OK 74137

Robert B. Wagner 118,600 () 1.28%
Ron B. Barper 105,472 1.14%

525 S. Main Street, Suite 800
Tulsa, OK 74103

Donald E. Reigel 91,400 *
5350 Manhattan Circle, Suite 210,
Boulder, CO 80303

Larry N, Patterson 57,306 -
Robert D. Hisrich 51600 (© '
10900 Euclid Avenue, Cleveland, OH 44106

Donald T. Duxe . 37,500 )
1701 Morningstar, Edmond, OK 73034

Sandra J. Connor 7608 (1) .
310 Picnic Street, Boxborough, MA 01719

James J. Burke 3,148 .
2737 Dos Lomas, Fallorook, CA 92029

All officers and directors as a group 3,098,318 32.40%

(10 persons)

“Less than one percent of the shares outstanding.




74012 unless otherwise indicated.

(2)  Exceptasindicated in the footnotes to this tablg, the persons named in the table have sole voting and
investment power with respect 1o all shares shown as beneficially owned by them, subject to com-
munity property laws where applicable. The number of shares beneficially owned includes the num-
ber of shares of Common Stock that such persons had the right 1o acquire within 60 days of
December 31, 20071, pursuant to unexercised options under the Company’s stock option plans, as
follows: 365,000 shares for Mr. Ingram; 400,000 shares for Mr. Siegenthaler; 580,000 shares for
Mr. Wiese; 56,000 shares for Mr. Wagner, 65,400 shares for Mr. Reigel; 36,668 shares for Mr.
Patterson; 7,500 shares for Ms. Connor; 3,000 shares for Mr. Burke; and 964,868 shares for all
directors and executive officers as a group (10 persons).

(3)  Includes 10,000 shares held by Mr. Ingram’s wife.

(4)  Includes 175,000 shares held by Mr. Siegenthaler's wife's trust,

(5)  Includes 5,200 shares held by Mr. Wagner as custodian for his minor children.
6) Includes 3,600 shares held by Dr. Hisrich as custodian for his minor child.

(7)

7 Includes 108 shares held by Ms. Connor’s hushand.

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Information Concerning the Nominees

The Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws,
both as further amended, provide that the Board of Directors shall consist of such number of directors as is
fixed from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors. On January 21, 2002, the Board fixed the

number of directors constituting the entre Board at six. Members of the Board are elected for one-year
terms.

The nominees for election to the Board of Directors are set forth below. Al of the nominees have been
recommended by the Board of Directors and all have indicated a wilingness to serve if elected. If any
nominee should become unavailable for election for any presently unforeseen reason, the persons desig-

nated as proxies will have full discretion to cast votes for another person designated by the Board. All of
the nominees are currently directors of the Company.

Name Positions With Company Director Since
Ron B. Barber Director March, 1987
Donald T. Duke Director March, 1991
Dr. Robert D. Hisrich Director March, 1987
Jack R. Ingram Chairman of the Board, March, 1989
Chief Executive Officer, and President
Ronald L. Siegenthaler Director Septemper, 1981
Robert B. Wagner Chief Financial Officer, March, 1996

Vice President of Finance,
Secretary and Director

4
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the private practice of law since October 1980 and is a shareholder in the law firm of Barber & Bartz, a
Professional Corporation, in Tulsa, Oklahoma, which serves as counsel to the Company. Mr. Barber is also
a Certified Public Accountant licensed in Oklahoma. He received his Bachelor of Science Degree in

Business Administration (Accounting) from the University of Arkansas and his Juris Doctorate Degree from
the University of Tulsa.

Mr. Duke, age 52, has been a director of the Company since March 1991, He is President of Duke
Energy Co. L.L.C., an oil and gas consulting and investment firm. Mr. Duke has been in senior manage-
ment in the oil and gas industry since 1980, including time as President and Chief Operating Officer of
Hadson Petroleum (USA), Inc., a domestic oil and gas subsidiary of Hadson Corporation, where he was
responsible for all phases of exploration and production, land, accounting, operations, product marketing

and budgeting and planning. Mr. Duke has a Bachelor of Science Degree in Petroleum Engineering from
the University of Oklahoma.

Dr. Hisrich, age 57, has been a director of the Company since March 1987, He occupies the A.
Malachi Mixon It Chair in Entrepreneurial Studies and is Professor of Marketing and Policy Studies at the
Weatherhead School of Management at Case Western Reserve University in Cleveland, Ohio. Prior 1o
assuming such positions, he occupied the Boviard Chair of Entrepreneurial Studies and Private Enterprise
and was Professor of Marketing at the College of Busingss Administration for the University of Tulsa, He is
also a marketing and management consultant. He is a member of the Board of Directors of Jameson Inn,
Inc. and Noteworthy Medical Systems, Inc., a member of the Editorial Boards of the Journal of Venturing
and the Journal of Small Business Management, and a member of the Board of Directors of Enterprise
Development, Inc. Dr. Hisrich received his Bachelor of Arts Degree in English and Science from DePauw
University and his Master of Business Administration Degree (Marketing) and Ph.D. in Business
Administration (Marketing, Finance, and Quantitative Methods) from the University of Cincinnati,

Mr. Ingram, age 58, has been the Company's Chief Executive Officer since July 1990. He also served
as the Company’s President from July 1990 until August 1999 and re-assumed that position in June
2001. He has been a director of the Company since March 1989, Mr. iIngram’s business experience
prior to joining the Company was concentrated in the oil and gas industry. Mr. ingram holds a Bachelor of
Science Degree in Petroleum Engineering from the University of Tulsa.

Mr. Siegenthaler, age 58, has been a director of the Company since its incorporation. He also served
as the Company's Executive Vice President from July 1990 until March 1999. Since 1974, through
SEDCO Investments, a partnership in which Mr. Siegenthaler is a partner, and as an individual, Mr.
Siegenthaler has been involved as partner, shareholder, officer, director, or sole proprietor of a number of
business entities with significant involvement in fabrication and marketing of steel, steel products and other
raw material, real estate, oil and gas, and telecommunications. Mr. Siegenthaler received his Bachelor's
Degree in Liberal Arts from Oklahoma State University.

Mr. Wagner, age 40, has been the Company’s Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer
since March 1989. He has been with the Company since July 1988 and became a member of the Board
of Directors in March 1996. Mr. Wagner is & Certified Public Accountant licensed in Oklahoma and
received his Bachelor of Science Degree in Accounting from Oklahoma State University.

None of the foregoing nominees has any family relationship to any other nominee. There are no
arrangements or understandings between any of the named individuals and any other person or persons
pursuant to which any of the named individuals are to be elected as directors.
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The Board of Directors of the Company held four mestings during the fiscal year ended October 31,
2001. All other action taken by the Board of Directors was consented to in writing by a memorandum of
action in lieu of a meeting, to which all incumbent directors subscribed. Directors meet their responsibilities
not only by attending Board and committee meetings but also through communication with members of
management on matters affecting the Company. The Board of Directors has an Audit Committeg and
Compensation Committes. There is no nominating committes or committee performing the functions of a
nominating committee. :

The Audit Committee consists of directors Donald T. Duke, Ronald L. Slegenthaler, Robert D. Hisrich and
Ron B. Barber. This Committee is responsible for overseeing the Company's accounting and financial
reporting functions, including monitoring the audit process, insuring independent communication and infor-
mation flow between and among the Audit Committee itself, the Company’s internal auditor, and the
Company's outside auditor, and fostering candid discussion among management and the inside and outside
auditors of issues involving judgment and affecting the quality of the audit process and public financial

reporting. The Audit Committee met three times independently of meetings of the Board of Directors dur-
ing the 2001 fiscal year.

The Company's Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee. With the
exception of Ron B. Barber, each of the members of the Audit Committee is independent, as defined in
Rule 4200(a)(15) of the National Association of Securities Dealers’ (“NASD”) listing standards. Mr. Barber
does not qualify as an independent director under such definition due to his ownership interest in Barber &
Bartz, the Company's general counsel. The Board of Directors appointed Mr. Barber to the Audit
Committee in accordance with Section 4310(c)(26)(B)(i) of the NASD's listing standards, which allows for
the appointment of one director to the Audit Committee who is not independent. in so doing, the Board
determined that Mr. Barber's position as a long-time director and general counsel 1o the Company, his for-
mer service as Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of the Company, and his professional train-
Ing as both a lawyer and a certified public accountant give him a valuable perspective on the Company’s
history and operations and make him uniquely qualified to analyze and understand the financial and
accounting issues which the Company is presented from time to time, and to advise the other Committee
members on the accounting and financial reporting functions of the Company.

Report of Audit Committee

December 14, 2001

To the Board of Directors of XETA Technologies, Inc.:

We have reviewed and discussed with management the Company's audited financial statements as of and
for the year ended October 31, 2001,

We have discussed with the independent auditors the matters required to be discussed by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 61, Communication with Audit Committees, as amended, by the Auditing Standards
Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

We have received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from the independent auditors
required by Independence Standard No. 1, Independence Discussions with Audit Committees, as amended,
by the Independence Standards Board, and have discussed with the auditors the auditors’ independence.

Based on the reviews and discussions referred to above, we recommend to the Board of Directors that the
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year ended October 31, 2001.

Donald T. Duke, Chairman
Ronald L. Siegenthaler
Robert D. Hisrich

Ron B. Barber

The Compensation Committee consists of directors Ron B. Barber, Donald T. Duke, Robert D. Hisrich and
Ronald L. Siegenthaler. This Committee works with Company management and provides advice and assis-
fance 1o the Board regarding establishment of the Company’s compensation philosophy, objectives and
strategy; administration of executive and management compensation programs; significant changes in
employee benefit plans; executive smployment and severance agreements; and appointments o the
Committee. The Committee is also responsible for recommending for full Board approval the compensa-
tion of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, President and directors of the Company, and for providing
an annual report on executive compensation to the Board. The Compensation Committee met once inde-
pendently of meetings of the Board of Directors during the 20071 fiscal year. All other action taken by the
Compensation Committee was consented to in writing by a Memorandum of Action in lieu of a megting, to
which all committee members subscribed.

Director Compensation

Effective May 20, 2001, the Company reduced directors fees by 20% as part of its cost containment
and reduction program. The Company compensates Its directors who are not officers of the Company
$9,600 per yeer for Board membership. In addition, Board members serving on a Committee receive
$8,000 per year and Board members serving as Chairman of a Committee receive an additional $16,000
per year. No other compensation was paid to directors for their services as such during the Company's
2001 fiscal year.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that shareholders vote “FOR” the election of
all of the nominees listed above as directors of the Company.

INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

The Board of Directors has selected Arthur Andersen, LLP ("AA") as the independent public accountants
to audit the Company's financial statements for the fiscal year ending October 31, 2002. Representatives
of AA are expected to be present at the Annual Meeting with the opportunity to make a statement if they
desire to do so and to respond to appropriate questons. While ratification of the Company's selection of
accountants by the Company’s shareholders is not required, in the event of a negative vote on such ratifi-
cation, the Company's Board of Directors will reconsider its selection. AA audited the Company's financial
statements for the year ended October 31, 2007.

Fees and independence

Audit Fees. AA billed the Company an aggregate of $71,000 for professional services rendered for the
audit of the Company's financial statements for fiscal year ended October 31, 2007 and its reviews of the
Company's financial statements included in the Company's Forms 10-Q during the 2001 fiscal year.

Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation Fees. During the fiscal year enced October
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cial information systems design and implementation.

All Other Fees. During the fiscal year ended October 31, 2001, AA billed the Company an aggregate of
$129,000 for tax consulting and compliance services.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has determined that the provision of services by AA
described in the preceding two paragraphs are compatible with maintaining AA's independence as the
Company’s principal accountant.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The executive officers and significant employees of the Company, their ages, positions held with the
Company and length of time in such positions are set forth below. There are no family relationships
between or among any of the named individuals. There are no arrangements or understandings between
any of the named individuals and any other person or persons pursuant to which any of the named individ-
uals are to be elected as officers.

Name and age Positions With Company Officer Since
Jack R. Ingram Chairman of the Board, Chief July, 1990
Age 58 Executive Officer and President
Robert B. Wagner Chief Financial Officer, March, 1989
Age 40 Vice President of Finance,

Secretary, Treasurer and Director

Larry N. Patterson Senior Vice President — Sales & Service March, 2000
Age 44

Donald E. Reigel Regional Vice President, Sales — Central June, 1995
Age 45

James J. Burke Regional Vice President, Sales — Western September, 2000
Age 57

Sandra J. Connor Regional Vice President, Sales — Eastern September, 2000
Age 37

Brief descriptions of the business experience of Messrs. Ingram and Wagner are set forth under the sec-
tion of this Proxy Statement entitied “Election of Directors.”

Mr. Patterson joined the Company in March 2000 and serves as Senior Vice President, Sales and
Service. Prior to his employment with the Company, Mr. Patterson worked for Exxon Corporation and held
various executive positions in Europe, Asia and Latin America with Exxon Company, International. He'is a
member of the American Management Association and is active in Organizational Development, Leadership
Development and Investment Management activities. Mr. Patterson received his Bachelor of Science
Degree in Engineering from Oklahoma State University.
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Vice President of Marketing and Sales in June 1995; became Vice President of Hospitality Sales in
December, 1999; and is currently Regional Vice President, Sales — Central. Prior to his employment with
the Company, Mr. Reigel served as a national accounts sales manager for WilTel Communications Systems.
Mr, Reigel received his Bachelor of Science Degree in Business from the University of Colorado.

Mr. Burke joined the Company in November 1898 in conjunction with the acquisition of UST! and is
currently Regional Vice President, Sales — Western. Prior to his employment with the Company, he had
been employed by USTI since August 1990 and served as the Western Region Sales Director and National
Sales Director. Mr. Burke received his Bachelor of Science Degree in Business from Niagara University.

Ms. Connor joined the Company in September 2000 and is currently Regional Vice President, Sales —
Eastern. Prior to her employment with the Company, Ms. Connor served in various sales and sales opera-
tions assignments at Lucent Technologies, most recently as Area Sales Vice President for the New England
Region - Enterprise Networks Division. Ms. Connor received her Bachelor of Science Degree in
Management from the University of Massachusetts, Lowell.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND RELATED INFORMATION
Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committes is the focal point for senior management and the Board of Directors to
address corporate compensation issues. The Committee’s primary responsibility is to make recommenda-
tions to the Board regarding remuneration of executive officers and o evaluate the design and competitive-
ness of the Company’s compensation plans. The Committee consists of three outside dirsctors and the
Company's independent outside counsel,

Compensation Philosophy. The heart of the Company's compensation philosophy is the enhancement of
shareholder value. Conseguently, the interests of shareholders and the need to be competitive in recruiting
and retaining quality managers and to motivate management to improve shareholder value drive the design
of executive compensation programs. A primary component of the Company's compensation philosophy 18
fo structure compensation programs so that a high percentage of remuneration is “at risk.” Near term cash
compensation reflects corporate performance and larger long-term incentives are tied directly to share
value,

Executive Compensation Program. Compensation for executive officers is comprised of base salary,
competitive employee benefits, annual incentive compensation opportunity and long term incentive com-
pensation in the farm of stock options. Under the Company's incentive compensation program, the higher

an executive's level of responsibility, the greater the portion of his compensation that will be dependent on
performance.

The Compensation Committee reviews executive compensation levels with respect to corporate and indii-
vidual performance, as well as competitive pay practices. The Company's Human Resources Department
assists the Committee in this analysis and, from time to time, the Commitiee retains the services of a third
party compensation-consulting firm. In addition, the Committee considers general industry conditions, as
well as the Company's recent recrulting experiences. From is review, the Committee believes the
Company's executive compensation program to be generally competitive with similarly placed companies.

The Committee reviews annually the base salaries of XETA's executive officers and recommends any
adjustments it may deem appropriate for approval by the full Board of Directors. In its review, the
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ing twelve months and futhe potential, retention considerations and others issuss particular to the executive
and XETA.

Additionally, the Committee considers the growth and performance of the Company as it assesses the
market basis for executive salaries. Fiscal year 2001 was a difficult period of deteriorating market funda-
mentals for the entire industry, and XETA experienced accelerating downward pressure on revenues and
cash flow beginning in the second quarter. The Company responded with an aggressive cost containment
and reduction program. As part of this program, a general wage and salary freeze was instituted, and the
compensation of all executive officers and directors was reduced. The CEO's salary was reduced by 25
percent, director’s fees were lowered by 20 percent and the salaries of all other executive officers were
reduced by 10 percent. The Company's financial performance in the fourth quarter was sufficient to allow
the salaries of officers to be restored effective Novernbper 1, 2001, However, the CEO and Board compen-
safion reduction and the wage and salary freeze remain in effect.

During fiscal year 2001, the Company's incentive compensation program continued to operate under
two plans instituted effective December 1, 1999: one for sales professionals and one for all other employ-
ees. The Employee Bonus Plan (EBP) orovides an annual incentive compensation opportunity for all
employees, except those in sales. The purpose of the EBP, in regard to executives, is to provide an incen-
tive to help XETA achieve its targeted financial objectives. Award levels under the plan are set so as to be
campetitive with annual incentives of other similarly successful high growth companies. However, no awards
were made for fiscal year 2001 under the EPB, since the Company did not achieve the plan’s threshold
financial goals for the year. Furthermore, the Company has suspended the EPB for fiscal year 2002 until
its business visibility improves meaningfully.

However, the Company still believes it is essential to appropriately recognize the leadership and sacrifice
during this difficult time of many of its key employees. To achieve that recognition, the Board authorized a
small discretionary bonus pool ($157,500). From the poal, a total of $34,000 was awarded to three
executives with the remaining $7123,500 being distributed to numerous other key employess. In keeping
with the Company’s compensation philosophy, the Committee will continue to support this practice at cur-
rent levels of profitability.

The Company's sales executives are provided an annual incentive compensation oppertunity under the
compensation plan for all sales professionals. The purpose of this incentive compensation plan is to pro-
vide an incentive to the Company's sales force to help XETA achieve its targeted strategic and margin sales
objectives. Award levels under the plan are set so as to be competitive with the market and are paid on a
prorated basis. The awards paid to the Company's sales executives during fiscal year 2001 are tabulated
in the Summary Compensation Table. The Committee believes the plan's provisions are consistent with
XETA's executive compensation philosophy and that the plan has been effective for its stated purpose.

As a long-term incentive, the Company grants options 1o purchase shares of Common Stock o execu-
tive officers and other key employees. These stock options have been awarded in two ways under plans
approved by the Board of Directors. The first is under the shareholder approved stock option plans, and
the second is through special grants of non-qualified options. Most of the granis are subject to a vesting
period and carry a ten-year exercise term. During fiscal year 2001, the Company granted qualified incen-
tive options for a total of 119,350 shares of which 50,000 were awarded to executives with the balance
awarded to other employees. No grants of non-qualified options were awarded during the fiscal year,

20071 CEO Compensation. During fiscal year 2001, Mr. Jack Ingram served as Chairman and CEO with
Mr. Jon Wiese serving as Co-CEO from March 7 to June 12. Mr. Wiese also served as President until
June 12 after which Mr. Ingram also assumed that office. Mr. Wiese served as Chief Strategist from June
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September 30, thelr cash compensation package was identical. The package consisted of an annual base
salary of $220,000, which was reduced to $165,000 as part of the salary reductions discussed earlier.

Other than annual base salary, their compensation was consistent in all material aspects with the program
for all other executive officers.

Mr. Ingram and Mr. Wiese were provided an incentive compensation opportunity for fiscal 2001 under
the Employee Bonus Plan. Their award level in the plan was set 50 as to be competitive with annual incen-
fives of other surveyed companies and the Company's overall executive compensation philosophy.
However, as stated earfier, no executive awards were made under the EBP for fiscal 2001. Additionally, Mr.
Ingram declined participation in the discretionary bonus pool described above.

As part of his original compensation package with the Company at the time of his employment in 1990,
Mr. Ingram was granted options to purchase an aggregate of 200,000 shares of Common Stock. These
options, which have been proportionately adjusted in number and exercise price in accordance with subse-
quent stock splits, were a special non-qualified grant approved by the Board of Directors with a 10-year
exercise period. At this time these options are fully vested, and Mr. ingram has exercised a portion of the
shares, the bulk of which he currently holds. As of the end of fiscal year 2001, he has received no addi-

tional option grants since 1990. He has purchased the balance of his stock holdings in the Company on
the open market.

At the time of his employment in 1999, Mr. Wiese was granted options t0 purchase an aggregate
amount of 200,000 shares of Common Stock. These options were also a special non-qualified grant
approved by the Board of Directors with a 10-year exercise period and have been proportionally adjusted
in number and exercise price for subsequent stock splits. At the time of his resignation, options for
580,000 shares were vested, but Lnexercised. The remaining options for 200,000 shares were not vest-
ed, and, under the terms of the grant, have been canceled.

in evaluating the compensation package of the Company's CEQ, the Committee considers such factors
as XETA's strategic and financial performance, his compensation in relation to that of CEQ’s at other com-
parable companies, his personai contribution to the Company’s success, and the Company's overall execu-
tive compensation philosophy. For fiscal year 2001, the Committee believes the compensation package of
the CEO was consistent with the Company's objectives.

Conclusion. The Compensation Commitiee believes the Company’s executive compensation program
has been consistent with the philosophy outlined in this report and has been effective overall in achieving its
objectives during fiscal 2001. The Committee hereby submits this report to XETA's Board of Directors for
approval.

The Compensation Committee,

Donald T. Duke, Chairman
Ron B. Barber

Robert D. Hisrich

Ronald L. Siegenthaler
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The members of the Compensation Committee are those named above in the Compensation Committee
Report. There are no "interlocks” (as defined by the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission) with
respect to any member of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. No member of this
Committee was at any time during the 20071 fiscal year an officer or employee of the Company.

No member of the Committes is & former officer or employee of the Company, except as follows: Mr.
Barber served as Senior Vice President of the Company from August 17, 1987 to March 1991, and is a
shareholder in the law firm of Barber & Bariz, a Professional Corporation, which serves as outside general
counsel to the Company; and Mr. Siegenthaler served as Executive Vice President of the Company from
July 1990 to March 1999,

Summary of Cash and Certain Other Compensation

The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation of the Company's Chief
Executive Officer and the next four most highly compensated executive officers of the Company.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Annual Compensation Long Term Compensation

(a) (b) c) (d) () © (i)

Name and Common Stock

Principal Underlying All Other

Position Year Salary Bonus Other Options (#) ® Compensation®

Jack R. Ingram 2001 $193077 § - $926,837 @ - $ 3,684
Chief Executive 2000 190,580 - 648,750 @ - 12,800
Officer ' 1999 90,000 320,679 510,000 @ - 6,400

Jon A, Wiese® 2001 177,211 - - 8,012
Former Co-CEQ 2000 190,580 - 176,250 @ - 3,385

1999 20,769 52,440

Larry N, Patterson 2001 130,192 12,500 - 50,000 6,396
Senior Vice President 2000 100,481 - - 40,000 2,904
- Sales & Senvice 1999 -

Donald E. Reigel 2001 99,231 89,685 358,947 @ - 6,497
Regional Vice 2000 98,009 53,596 1,744,459 ® 12,000 696
President, Sales - 1999 75,000 354,475 93,158 ¥ - 6,400
Central

James J. Burke 2001 96,346 89,685 11,327 @ - 2,217
Regional Vice 2000 56,065 - 222,765 1 8,600 3,678
President, Sales - 1999 - - -

Western

Sandra J. Connor 2001 97,310 99,502 - - 3,214
Regional Vice 2000 12,741 24,396 - 7,500
President, Sales - 1999 - -

Eastern

(1} Amounts shown reflect the 2-for-1 stock split effected in July 2000.
(2) Represents the Company’s contributions to the employee's account under the Company's 401(k) plan.

(3) Represents the dollar value of the difference between the price paid for shares of the Company's common stock upon
exercise of stock options and the market value of such stock on the date of exercise,

(4) Represents sales commissions paid.
(5) $1,716,703 represents amount under footnote 3 above and $27,756 represents amount under footnote 4 above.

(B) Mr. Wiese is a former officer of the Company. He served as President untll June 20071, Co-CEO from March 2001
to June 2001, and Chief Strategist from June 20071 to September 20071,
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The following table sets forth certain information regarding stock options granted during the 2007 fiscal year
to persons named in the Summary Compensation Table. No stock appreciation rights were granted during fis-

cal 2001,
OPTION GRANTS IN LAST YEAR
Potential Realizable Value at
Assumed Annual Rates of Stock Price
Individual Grants Appreciation for Option Term®
@ (b) ) ) ) ) ©)
Number of % of Total
Securities  Options
Underlying Grantedto  Exercise or
Options  Employees in Base Expiration
Name Granted (#) Fiscal Year _ Price ($/Sh) Date™ 5% ($) 10% ($)
Jack R. Ingram
Jon A, Wiese - - - - - -
Larry N, Patterson 50,000 41.89% - 5.31 3/25/17 $166,972 $423,139

Donald E. Reigel
James J. Burke
Sandra J. Connor

(1) One-third of these options become exercisable on the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of grant and may
be exercised at any time from and after such dates until the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.

(2) The potential realizable value is based on the term of the option at its time of grant (10 years). It is calculated by
assuming that the stock price on the date of the grant appreciates at the indicated annual rate, compounded annually
for the entire term of the option and that the option is exercised and sold on the last day of its term for the appreciated
stock price. These amounts represent certain rates of appreciation only, in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and
do not reflect the Company’s estimate or projection of future stock price performance. There can be no assurance that
the rates of appreciation assumed in this table can be achieved or that the amounts reflected will be received by the
individuals. Actual gains, if any, are dependent on the actual future performance of the Company’s stock and no gain to
the optionee is possible unless the stock price increases over the option term.

Option Exercises and Holdings

The following table sets forth certain information regarding stock options exercised during the 2001 fiscal
year by persons named in the Summary Compensation Table and the number and value of unexercised options
neld by such persons as of the fiscal year-end. The Company has not granted stock appreciation rights.
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FY-END OPTION VALUES
@ o) © () ®
Number of Securities Value of Unexercised
Underlying Unexercised In-the-Money Options
Options at FY-End (#) at FY-End ($)®
Shares Acquired  Value Realized
Name on Exercise (#) ©®" Exercisable _Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable

Jack R. Ingram 130,000 $926,837 365,000 - $1,327,605
Jon A Wiese - - 580,000
Larry N. Patterson - 36,668 63,332 -
Donald E. Reigel 46,000 $358,947 65400 12,000 $210,425
James J. Burke - - 3,000 5,600
Sandra J. Connor - - 7,500

(1) Value is based upon the difference between the fair market value of the securities underlying the options on the
date of exercise and the exercise price.

(2) Based upan the difference between the fair market value of the securities underlying the options at fiscal
year-end ($3.60 per share) and the exercise price.

Employment Agreements

Following is a description of employment agreements which the Company has with certain officers named
in the Summary Compensation Table.

The Company entered into a letter agreement with Mr. Reigel upon his employment with the Company in
June 1995, which set forth his compensation and certain other terms of his employment. Under the current
terms of Mr. Reigel's compensation agreement, as amended, his base salary (commencing December 1,
1999) is $100,000 and his incentive bonus compensation is set pursuant to the incentive compensation plan
adopted by the Company for its sales professionals (as described in the Compensation Committee Report),
The letter agreement also imposes certain non-solicitation restrictions upon Mr. Reigel.

RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Mr. Barber is a shareholder in the law firm of Barber & Bartz, a Professional Corporation, which serves as
outside general counsel to the Company. During the fiscal year ended October 31, 2001, the Company paid
or accrued legal fees to Barber & Bartz in the approximate amount of $385,500.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFIGIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Based solely upon a review of (i) Forms 3 and 4 and amendments thereto furnished to the Company dur-
ing its most recent fiscal year, (i) Forms 5 and amendments thereto furnished to the Company with respect to
its most recent fiscal year, and (i) written representations made to the Company by its directors and officers,
the Company knows of no director, officer, or beneficial owner of more than ten percent of the Company’s
Common Stock who has failed to file on a timely basis reports of beneficial ownership of the Company’s
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as follows: Mr, Hisrich was late in filing his Statements of Changes in Beneficial Ownership on Form 4 for
the month of February 2001, Mr. Jon Wiese, former President and Co-CEO of the Company, was late in
fling his Statement of Changes in Beneficial Ownership on Form 4 for the month of August 2001.

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The graph depicted below shows the Company's stock price as an index assuming $100 invested on
November 1, 1996, along with the composite prices of companies listed in the SIC Code (Telephone,
Telegraph Apparatus) Index and the NASDAQ Market Index.

Compare 5-year Cumulative Total Return Among XETA Technologies,
NASDAQ Market Index, and SIC Code Index
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XETATECHNOLOGIES ~ SIC CODE INDEX  NASDAQ MARKET INDEX

ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON NOV. 1, 1996
ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED
FISCAL YEAR ENDING OCT. 31, 2001

1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001
XETA TECHNOLOGIES 100.00 253.33 236.67 518.34 576.69 192.00
SIC CODE INDEX 100.00 13268 117.67 237.52 269.65  69.43
NASDAQ MARKET INDEX 100.00  131.06  148.19 24459 287.67  144.26

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of the Company’s previous filings under the
Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that might incorporate future filings made
by the Company under those statutes, the preceding Compensation Committee Report on Executive
Compensation and the Stock Performance Graph will not be incorporated by reference into any of those

prior filings, nor will such report or graph be incorporated by reference into any future filings made by the
Company under those statutes.
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SAAREAULUER FRUFUOALY

Under regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, shareholders are entitled to submit pro-
posals on matters appropriate for shareholder action at subsequent annual meetings of the Company in
accordance with those regulations. In order for shareholder proposals for the Company's next annual
meeting to be eligible for consideration for inclusion in the proxy statement and proxy relating to such
meeting, they must be received by the Company no later than October 7, 2002, Such proposals should
be directed to XETA Technologies, Inc., 1814 West Tacoma, Broken Arrow, Oklahoma 74012, Attention:
CEQ.

OTHER MATTERS

As of the date of this Proxy Statement, the Board of Directors knows of no matter other than those
described herein that will be presented for consideration at the Annual Meeting. However, should any other
matters properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment thereof, it is the intention of the per-
sons named in the accompanying Proxy to vote in accordance with their best judgment in the interest of
the Company.

By Order of the Board of Directors
Kren A.

Robert B. Wagner
Secretary

Broken Arrow, Oklahoma
February 22, 2002
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